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Source: https://www.industry.gov.au/sites/default/files/minisite/static/8f915ab4-c06d-41cf-98ee-5bc628230bdc/resources-and-energy-quarterly-
september-2022/documents/Resources-and-Energy-Quarterly-September-2022.pdf

ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

Australia’s resource and energy export earnings are forecast to 

reach $450 billion in 2022–23, surpassing last year’s record of 

$422 billion. Earnings are then forecast to fall to $375 billion in 

2023–24 (still the third highest ever), as world supply responds to 

high prices amidst a soft demand backdrop. 

Driving the current surge in resource and energy export earnings 

is a spike in energy prices and Australian dollar weakness against 

the US dollar. Energy prices are elevated largely because of a 

looming drop in exports of gas, coal and oil by Russia, one of the 

world’s largest energy exporters. Gas, LNG and thermal coal prices 

are at record levels, as Northern Hemisphere nations try to build 

stockpiles ahead of winter. 

Since the end of June 2022, the price of thermal coal and other 

energy commodities prices have remained extremely high except 

for metallurgical coal prices which have declined sharply. Bans 

on Russian exports of oil and other fossil fuels by most advan-

ced Western countries are progressively taking effect. By early 

2023, the market for Russian exports will have shrunk noticeably: 

transport and infrastructure constraints will likely prevent a full 

diversion of some of these energy commodities from the West to 

nations such as China and India. The net result is a drop in world 

energy supply, as some Russian output becomes stranded. Drought 

in large parts of Western Europe, the United States and southern 

China has exacerbated energy shortages. High energy prices have 

caused the curtailment of energy-intensive metal smelting/refi-

ning, especially in Western Europe. These output cuts have partly 

offset the impact of weaker metal demand (induced by a sharp 

rise in energy costs on consumers and slower global GDP growth). 

Prices of energy commodities are expected to remain relatively 

high over the outlook period. High prices are likely to accelerate 

the push towards the adoption of low emission technologies.

Macroeconomic Environment
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Source: https://www.industry.gov.au/sites/default/files/minisite/static/8f915ab4-c06d-41cf-98ee-5bc628230bdc/resources-and-energy-quarterly-
september-2022/documents/Resources-and-Energy-Quarterly-September-2022.pdf

GDP Growth Forecasts

Source: IMF (2022)

Downside risks are substantial. These include: Russia cutting 

off gas exports to Europe; inflation proving harder to reduce 

than expected; tighter global financial conditions inducing debt 

distress in emerging market and developing economies; renewed 

COVID-19 outbreaks and lingering problems in the Chinese 

property sector.

Whether the global economy experiences a hard or soft landing 

remains in the balance. Labour markets are extremely tight in 

some advanced economies, especially the US and the UK, raising 

nominal wage growth. But real wages have mostly fallen, eroding 

household purchasing power and consumer sentiment. House-

holds in advanced economies are servicing historically high debt 

levels, in part by drawing down savings built up during the pan-

demic. How labour markets perform will be critical as business 

investment and household spending respond to tighter financial 

conditions over the coming quarters.

WORLD ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects the world econo-

my to grow by 3.2% in real terms in 2022 and 2.9% in 2023. This is 

around half the rate of growth achieved last year and represents 

a downward revision of 0.4 percentage points in 2022 and 0.7 

percentage points for 2023 from the April 2022 World Economic 

Outlook.

Global output stalled in the second quarter of this year, with GDP 

falling quarter-on-quarter (q/q) in China, the US and the UK, 

while Germany had zero growth. Downward revisions to forecast 

growth occurred across most economies, including substantial-

ly lower IMF growth forecasts for the US, China, the Euro Area, 

Japan and India. The Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) expects 

growth in Australia’s major trading partners to be well below its 

pre-pandemic average in the next two years.1

Policymakers in most economies currently face major challenges: 

they are having to manage high levels of inflation in an environ-

ment of sharply slowing (and even negative) growth. Inflation has 

surged, as supply problems add to a surge in energy prices due the 

fallout from the Russian invasion of Ukraine. The supply problems 

are both a remnant of the COVID-19 pandemic and a result of 

severe drought in Western Europe, southern China and the US. 
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Relevant Commodity Markets

Gold consumption is expected to  
fall in 2023 but recover in 2024

World gold consumption is forecast to decrease by 1.6% to 4,065 

tonnes in 2023, as investment demand eases from relatively strong 

levels in 2022. While safe-haven demand will tend to support gold 

investment — so long as geopolitical and economic uncertainty 

persists — real bond yields are unlikely to decline to the negative 

levels seen throughout 2021 and 2022. This will make investors 

more likely to seek alternative safe-haven assets, such as interest-

bearing bonds.

World gold consumption is forecast to increase by 7.7% in 2024 to 

4,376 tonnes, driven largely by continued growth in global jewel-

lery consumption. Jewellery consumption is expected to grow by 

12% year-on- year in 2024, as economic recovery and a forecast de-

cline in gold prices support purchases in key consuming countries 

such as China and India.

World supply increased in the first half of 2022

World gold supply increased by 4.9% year-on-year to 2,357 tonnes 

in the first half of 2022. The increased supply was driven by a 

3.1% rise in global mine production and an 8.0% increase in gold 

recycling. Stronger gold recycling activity in the quarter largely 

reflected the impact of higher US dollar gold prices, with increases 

achieved despite disruptions in China related to the country’s 

zero COVID policy.

GOLD

SUMMARY: Gold prices averaged US$1,872 an ounce in the 

June quarter 2022, before falling to an average of about 

US$1,730 an ounce in the September quarter 2022. Prices 

came under pressure from the strong US dollar and rising 

bond yields, following aggressive US monetary tightening and 

heightnened uncertainty over global economic growth. 

World gold consumption increased  
in the first half of 2022 

World gold demand increased by 12% year-on-year to 2,189 ton-

nes in the first half of 2022. This increase was driven by strong 

flows into US and European gold-backed exchange-traded funds 

(ETFs), which gained 234 tonnes, compared to an outflow of 127 

tonnes in 2021. 

Heightened geopolitical risk following Russia’s invasion of Ukrai-

ne, weaker equity markets and mounting inflation concerns, drove 

significant investment flows into safe-haven assets (such as gold 

ETFs) from January-April 2022. From May 2022, rising real bond 

yields and a strong US dollar eroded gold’s appeal to investors, 

leading to ETF outflows and lower gold prices over the remainder 

of the June quarter 2022. 
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Record Australian gold exploration  
expenditure in 2021–22

Australia’s gold exploration expenditure reached a record high 

of $1.6 billion in 2021–22, up 4.0% from the previous record in 

2020–21. Gold accounted for 41% of Australia’s total mineral 

exploration expenditure (at $3.9 billion) in 2021–22. Western Aus-

tralia remained the centre of gold exploration activity in Australia 

in 2021–22, accounting for 71% (or $1.1 billion) of total gold explo-

ration expenditure, followed by Victoria (10% or $166 million) and 

NSW (7.2% or $114 million).

Global mine production rose to a record high 1,764 tonnes during 

the first half of 2022, driven largely by increased production in 

China and Australia.

Gold mine production is expected to increase as new projects 

come online in Canada, Chile, Brazil and Argentina. Production in 

Australia is forecast to rise during 2023 and 2024, driven by new 

projects and expansions of existing projects. Continued environ-

mental regulations and industry consolidation in China will see 

production fall over the medium-term.

Gold prices to fall over the short and medium term

Gold prices have mostly resisted sharp increases in real bond  

yields so far this year, however this resistance is expected to un-

wind over time, as interest rates continue to rise and as global 

economic uncertainty continues to support the US dollar. Lower 

safe haven demand will do less to ameliorate the impact of higher 

interest rates on gold demand.

There are several risks to the gold price assessment in the remain-

der of of 2022. These include the arrival of any new COVID-19 

variants and the extent to which COVID-19 lockdowns and control 

measures persist in China.
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Long term electric vehicle sales projections

Globally, governments continue to be extremely supportive to 

encourage EV sales to the detriment of fossil fuel powers vehicles. 

Source: Wood Mackenzie (2022), Department of Industry,  
Science and Resources (2022); IEA (2022).

Key global automakers continue to accelerate plans to transition 

to EVs by developing new product lines and converting existing 

manufacturing capacity. The global market share for passenger 

EVs has quadrupled since 2019, with EV sales representing about 

9% of the car market in 2021. Strong underlying demand and EV 

manufacturers’ declarations of further increases in production, 

imply that EV sales could reach almost 40% of vehicle sales annu-

ally by 2030. 

World demand for lithium is estimated to increase from 583,000 

tonnes of lithium carbonate equivalent (LCE) in 2021 to 724,000 

tonnes in 2022. Over the following two years, demand is forecast to 

rise by over 40%, reaching 1,058,000 tonnes by 2024. Asia remains 

the major source of demand for lithium, despite the spread of new 

battery manufacturing capacity into Europe and the US. 

LITHIUM
 

SUMMARY Spodumene prices are forecast to rise from an ave-

rage US$598 a tonne in 2021 to US$2,730 a tonne in 2022, and 

US$3,280 a tonne in 2023 before moderating to US$2,490 in 

2024. We expect lithium hydroxide prices to lift from US$17,370 

a tonne in 2021 to US$38,575 a tonne in 2022 and US$51,510 in 

2023, and moderate to US$37,650 by 2024. 

Australia’s lithium production is forecast to grow from 

247,000 tonnes of lithium carbonate equivalent (LCE) in 

2020–21 to 387,000 tonnes in 2022–23 and 469,000 tonnes of 

LCE in 2023–24. 

Australia’s lithium export earnings are forecast to increase by 

more than ten-fold in just two years from $1.1 billion in 2020–21 

to $13.8 billion in 2022–23, and ease to $12.9 billion by 2023–24.

Global demand for lithium grows  
as electric vehicle sales take off 

Global lithium demand continued to grow strongly in the June 

quarter 2022, driven by rising demand for electric vehicle batte-

ries. Despite faltering global economic growth in the June quarter, 

sales and production of electric vehicles (EVs) continued their 

rapid growth trend. 

Global sales of all types of EVs increased 36% in the year to June 

2022 compared with the same period in 2021 — with Chinese sales 

up 110% (and still representing over 50% of global sales), Euro-

pean sales up 6%, and North American sales up 27%. 
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Global lithium production

Source: Department of Industry, Science and Resources (2022);  
Wood Mackenzie (2022).

World and Australian lithium hydroxide output
 

Source: Wood Mackenzie (2022); Department of Industry,  
Science and Resources (2022)

Supply chain issues that plagued EV manufacturers and battery 

makers late in 2021 and earlier this year have eased somewhat. But 

supply remains tight, with reports of delivery timeframes for key 

EV models being pushed well into 2023. Higher prices for lithium 

as well as other key battery materials (such as nickel, graphite and 

cobalt) are putting pressure on battery costs.

Global lithium production rising, 
but supply gap remains 

World output was 546,000 tonnes LCE in 2021, and is forecast to 

reach 682,000 tonnes in 2022 and 1,034,000 tonnes in 2024. This 

rapid growth — of over 80% in three years — is forecast to be met 

by gains in output by Australia, Chile (via expansions to Albemar-

le and SQM brine operations) and Argentina (via new and expan-

ded brine operations by Livent, Allkem and Minera Exar). 

Total supply from mine and brine operations is currently insuf-

ficient to meet demand. While new lithium projects are being 

developed, the supply gap will take time to close. Stockpile size is 

hard to ascertain, with some estimates of 4-8 weeks for spodume-

ne. Ongoing tight supply conditions are forcing lithium processors 

and battery makers to pay record prices.
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Record spodumene spot prices  
rolling into contract prices 

Shortages of spodumene, lithium hydroxide and lithium carbona-

te continue to push spot prices to new records. As most Australian 

producers (which represent almost half of the world’ production) 

have historically utilised long term contracts, prices received take 

time to adjust to shifts in spot prices. High average prices reported 

by Australian producers indicate spot prices are now flowing more 

rapidly into contract prices. 

Notes: Lithium hydroxide price is for higher-priced battery grade product. Source: 
Wood Mackenzie (2022); Department of Industry, Science and Resources (2022).

Rapid price movements and the relative immaturity of the market 

will likely lead to ongoing uncertainty. Risks to the lithium price 

forecasts are balanced over the outlook period. While expansions 

to production are already underway in Australia and overseas, 

there are long lead times for lithium mine and brine operations. 

Moreover, the potential for delays in bringing such large volumes 

of lithium into production, mean risks remain of persistent supply 

shortages over the next few years.

Global race for new lithium  
production speeds up 

A number of expansions and new projects have been announced 

in recent months. In addition to ongoing expansions to brine 

operations in Chile, state-owned mining firm Codelco is un-

dertaking exploration in the Salar de Maricunga, with drilling 

due for completion early next year, in Canada several projects 

are expected to start or restart production between 2023-2025, 

Mexico has created a state-run company to mine lithium after 

nationalising lithium resources in April, Europe and North Ame-

rica are looking to reduce their dependency on Chinese imports 

and develop their own lithium production with new regula-

tion, Zimbabwe’s Premier African Minerals is expected to start 

shipping spodumene concentrate from its Zulu lithium mine to 

China by March 2023, and Argentina’s Government revealed that 

Ultra Argentina SRL and China’s Zangge Mining have committed 

$290 million to explore, develop and process the nation’s lithium 

deposits. Interest in recycling continues to rise, with recycling 

projects announced in many nations. However, large scale opera-

tions will take time to establish. 
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Australia’s hydroxide refineries on  
verge of commercial production 

A key milestone occurred in May 2022 with first production of bat-

tery grade lithium hydroxide at the Kwinana lithium hydroxide 

refinery (51% Tianqi and 49% IGO) and this has allowed the start 

of the product qualification process with offtake partners, with 

an expected completion time of 4-8 months. By 2024, Australia 

may have about 10% of global lithium hydroxide refining capaci-

ty, rising to about 20% of global lithium refining by 2027. There 

are a number of risks to the strong forecast growth for Australian 

lithium production. Delays to approval and construction of new 

mine and processing plants, as well as difficulties achieving ramp 

up to full output, would see slower growth in spodumene output 

volumes and export values. 

China dominates the EV battery supply chain, producing three-

quarters of all lithium-ion batteries, and holds around 70% of  

cathode production capacity and 85% of anode production. Over 

half of lithium, cobalt and graphite processing and refining capa-

city is located in China. This situation is not expected to change 

rapidly. The IEA states that the majority of the supply chain is 

likely to remain Chinese through to 2030. In the case of battery 

production, China accounts for 70% of new global production 

capacity announced for the period to 2030 (IEA 2022). 

However, one of the drivers of recent high spot prices appears to 

be a push by refiners and battery makers to build up inventories, 

due to concerns about global supply chains. The lack of data on 

global lithium stocks makes it difficult to judge how well battery 

producers have built up stockpiles. If these concerns ease, prices 

could moderate more rapidly over the outlook period. Prices may 

also ease if global economic growth slows more rapidly than re-

cent IMF forecasts suggest it will.

More generally, the Lithium market has been volatile in the past 

10 years. Between 2017-2020, global demand lost momentum 

and prices and revenues plunged. This fall tested the resilience 

of businesses, with some facilities relegated to care and main-

tenance. But as global battery manufacturers and automakers 

reassessed their requirements over the course of 2021, demand for 

lithium took off again. This third stage holds even stronger growth 

prospects than the first, with Australia’s lithium export revenues 

forecast to grow from $1.1 billion in 2020–21 to $13.8 billion in 

2022–23 — a tenfold increase in just two years. 
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Iron ore prices dip in September quarter on weaker 
global steel demand 

Iron ore prices have fallen by around 20% in the September 

quarter 2022, averaging around US$100 a tonne. Combined with 

growing global recessionary fears, new COVID- 19 outbreaks and 

weakness in China’s housing sector, have dampened world steel 

and iron ore demand in recent months. 

Weakening demand in China, combined with a cost increase in 

many raw materials inputs has also driven steel mill margins 

down so far in 2022, with reports of as many as half of all mills 

operating at a loss in July (particularly EAF-based steelmaking). 

Following a multi-month decline in China’s portside stocks, 

iron ore inventories rebounded from July, reaching around 140 

million tonnes by mid-September. Despite the increase in portsi-

de stocks, inventories at steel mills remain low in year-on-year 

terms, which may provide some tailwind to iron ore demand over 

the rest of 2022. 

Weaker demand and more supply  
to continue to push prices lower to 2024 

Over the rest of the outlook period, iron ore prices are projected to 

decline toward (lower) longer-run levels. This follows more modest 

growth in blast- furnace steelmaking (compared with the past 

decade) from major producers such as the EU, US and China, as 

the world undergoes a transition to a low emissions environment. 

Slower growth in blast furnace steelmaking capacity will also 

take place alongside growing supply from Australia and Brazil. 

Growing global recessionary fears present further downside risks 

to iron ore prices over this period. 

IRON ORE

SUMMARY Iron ore prices have fallen by around 20% in the 

September quarter 2022. Combined with growing global 

recessionary fears, new COVID- 19 outbreaks and weakness in 

China’s housing sector, have dampened world steel and iron 

ore demand in recent months. 

Australian export volumes were 0.9% higher year-on-year in 

the first half of 2022, with new greenfield supply starting to 

come online from major producers. Exports are forecast to in-

crease by 3.1% in 2022–23 to reach 903 million tonnes, and rise 

by 3.8% to 937 million tonnes in 2023–24. 

Lower prices over the outlook are expected to see Australia’s 

iron ore export earnings ease from $134 billion in 2021–22 to 

$119 billion in 2022–23, and then to $95 billion in 2023–24.

Notes: China import Iron ore fines 62% Fe spot (CFR Tianjin port) 
Source: Bloomberg (2022) China import prices; World Steel Association (2022)
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With most of Ukraine’s iron ore mines located in areas outside 

major conflict zones, Ukrainian producers had been able to main-

tain a reasonably high level of exports through the early months 

of the invasion. This was despite Russia’s blockade of the country’s 

primary export hub at the port of Pivdennyi, with Ukrainian pro-

ducers redirecting cargos by rail and barge to ports in Poland and 

Romania for export. 

However, with rising energy costs and Russian strikes on this im-

provised logistics network in June, exports have declined in recent 

months, and are expected to remain weak for the rest of 2022. This 

has led to major iron ore producers such as Metinvest and Arcelor-

Mittal suspending a number of operations from July. 

China announces a significant  
new state-owned iron ore enterprise 

In July, China established a new state-backed entity, China Mine-

ral Resources Group, with responsibilities including the import 

and export of commodities, sales, iron ore mining, processing, and 

supply chain management services. The new company has regis-

tered capital of RMB 20 billion (around US$3bn). The move is seen 

as an effort by the Chinese government to guarantee the supply of 

important minerals resources and increase the negotiating power 

of China’s steel industry. This could include establishing a single, 

central purchasing platform for iron ore, though how this would 

function across China’s vast steel industry remains unclear. 

Iron ore price outlook (Quarterly)

Notes: China import iron ore fines 62% Fe spot (FOB) 
Source: Bloomberg (2022); Department of Industry. Science and Resources (2022)

World trade - Global iron ore supply  
improved in June quarter, but remains tight in 2022 

In the first half of 2022, combined shipments for Australia, Brazil, 

South Africa and Canada — representing more than 80% of global 

seaborne supply — were around 640 million tonnes, a fall of 1.3% 

compared with the same period in 2021. This was due to weaker 

export volumes for Brazil (down 7.5% year-on-year) and South 

Africa (down 4.6%) over the period. 

Russia/Ukraine prompting both  
a market restructure and regional shortfall 

The Russian invasion of Ukraine has continued to see a reorgani-

sation of iron ore and steel exports in recent months. Supply chain 

constraints are likely to lead to some shortfalls in regional supply 

of iron ore in 2022. 
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In conclusion, the global seaborne iron ore market is expected to 

remain relatively balanced over the outlook period, with growth in 

exports from both Australia and Brazil offsetting falls from mid-

tier exporters such as India. However, growing macroeconomic 

headwinds — such as weakening global growth, energy shortages 

and further COVID-19 outbreaks — present a mounting risk to 

steel demand growth over the outlook, which would have reper-

cussions for iron ore demand. 

Iron ore exploration expenditure  
highest in 9 years in June quarter 

A total of $201 million was spent on iron ore exploration in the 

June quarter 2022 (Figure 4.8). This was an increase of 44% 

compared with the previous quarter, and 33% higher than the 

same quarter in 2021. Exploration has remained elevated in recent 

quarters following iron ore prices reaching historical highs in the 

first half of 2021 and this is expected to continue going forward.

Source: https://www.industry.gov.au/publications/resources-and-energy-quarterly-september-2022
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Objectives and StrategiesBusiness Activities

The Company’s focus is on (majority) acquisitions in mineral ex-

ploration companies in mainly developed countries with the most 

attractive mining jurisdictions, with a specific focus on battery 

metals, iron ore and gold deposits. 

In 2021/2022 the Group (see section 2.2.4 below) started its activi-

ties in the raw material sector and is in the early stage of explora-

tion activities. The current business activities of SunMirror Group 

consist merely of exploration (i.e., the search for and development 

of economically viable reserves of mineral resources) and holding 

rights for potential royalties in this sector. Subject to a successful 

exploration program SunMirror Group also plans to be active in 

the field of the development, mining, and extraction of mineral 

resources in the future.

SunMirror pursues an opportunistic acquisition strategy of new 

exploration and operating assets. All current projects are held 

100% by the Group. The Group’s acquisition strategy is to acquire 

primarily sole ownership or controlling interests (save for poten-

tial royalty opportunities). Any decision on the acquisition of ad-

ditional exploration and operating assets will only be made after 

successful due diligence, negotiations/commercial agreement and 

securing any required financing. 

SunMirror seeks to acquire mineral assets that have seen at least 

some work from the previous owners and operators. This partial 

de-risking strategy provides SunMirror with baseline informa-

tion to estimate the potential likelihood of encountering further 

encouraging results, as well as a starting point from which to 

direct the next phases of work; and consequently, reduce the 

risk of SunMirror not being able to deliver encouraging future 

project results.

The Company’s strategy is to invest into exploration and mi-

ning assets with a focus on metals critical for the fast-growing 

European green technology industry such as cobalt, copper, 

gold, lithium, nickel, and tin. The focus is  furthermore on assets 

located in stable, low risk jurisdictions, e.g., Australia, Europe and 

selected African countries. By focusing on mineral assets in these 

more developed countries, management of SunMirror tries to 

avoid typical expropriation and political risk associated with mi-

neral assets in undeveloped countries. In addition, this provides 

SunMirror with a proximal market for its mineral projects.

SunMirror’s acquisition strategy is to acquire majority stakes 

(apart from potential royalty opportunities).



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 19

Operating Activities

The Group invests into exploration and mining assets with a focus 

on critical metals relevant for both the European and Asian EV 

industry. The Group continues to advance its exploration assets and 

with the aim to eventually operate multiple mines and processing 

plants. Currently, the Group holds 3 assets in Western Australia: 

 Moolyella: The Group holds an exploration license (E 45/5573) 

granted on 23 December 2020 for a term of five years for an 

area of approx. 92.773 square kilometers in Moolyella, located 

in Western Australia, which the Group believes has a robust 

potential for lithium-bearing pegmatites. The property is an 

early-stage exploration project with no JORC-compliant mi-

neral resources defined as yet. Nevertheless, the area is highly 

prospective for both lithium and tin, the latter of which was 

exploited in the 1890’s.

 As the company plans to carry out both trenching and drilling 

in the future, Terrestrial Ecosystems was commissioned to 

undertake a preliminary site assessment and to prepare a report 

that outlines the potential vertebrate fauna issues should our 

company intend to proceed with exploration and mining in one 

of more areas within the license area. (To comply with Western 

Australian mining laws).

 Site reconnaissance visit was undertaken by Dr Scott Thompson 

on 16 February 2022 to assess variations in habitat types, the 

presence of habitat that would support conservation significant 

species, access and habitat condition.

Since the business model of SunMirror does not require any re-

search and development activities, it can mainly operate adopting 

commonly used best practices in its core business areas, and as 

such there are no current research and development activities 

apart from its ongoing mineral exploration programs.

Research and Development
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In April 2022 Botanica Consulting Pty Ltd (Botanica) was commis-

sioned by Lithium 1 Pty. Ltd. (SunMirror’s wholly-owned subsidia-

ry) to undertake a reconnaissance and targeted flora / vegetation 

survey of the project area (referred to as the ’survey area’). Their 

assessment is intended to support Program of Works (trenching / 

drilling) approvals for the exploration program on the Project.

Following a desktop study and site visit (May 2022), their report 

concludes:

1. No environmentally sensitive areas were identified within the 

survey area.

2. There are no wetlands of international importance (Ramsar 

Wetlands) or national importance (Australian Nature Conser-

vation Agency Wetlands) within the survey area. 

3. There are no gazetted conservation reserves within the survey 

area.

4. No threatened, priority or otherwise significant flora species 

were identified within the survey area.

5. No threatened, priority or otherwise significant ecological 

communities were identified within the survey area.

Plan of Word (PoW) is being submitted to the authorities and 

quotes are being sought for drilling as well as for an aeromagnetic 

survey. The aeromagnetic survey will be especially useful in iden-

tifying structures that lie beneath supercial cover within the li-

cence area, and which will be prioritised and targeted by drilling.

Dr Thompson’s report concludes that 

 “Exploration drilling in the three main target areas within the 

licence is unlikely to significantly impact of terrestrial species 

unless the drilling area is near the activity area of a conser-

vation significant species, and in most cases the animals will 

move into an adjacent area with little impact.

 

 Arboreal bats are unlikely to be significantly impacted unless 

a roost site is disturbed, and roost sites are caves or adits. If ex-

ploration drilling is at least 50m from the entrance of a cave or 

adit and the drilling activity is limited to a couple of days, then 

impacts are unlikely to be significant.

 If exploration is to occur adjacent to the wetland areas, then 

the waterbirds will almost certainly move to less disturbed 

areas, so any impacts will be low.

 It is recommended that an inspection of each of the proposed 

access track and exploration drilling sites and is undertaken 

prior to drilling activity by a suitably experienced zoologist is 

undertaken to identify if any conservation significant species 

will be potentially impacted.”

He concludes 

 “When the intended mining and disturbance area(s) are 

demarcated, then a targeted survey should be planned and 

implemented for conservation significant species potentially 

found in the project areas.”



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 21

 SunMirror is aware that MCC has recently submitted an ap-

plication for an extension (renewal) of their retention license 

to the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety 

(submission date: 16 March 2022) and has paid the required 

annual rental fee for the next twelve months (until 21 March 

2023) and which has been verified on the Australian Tene-

ments Online system.  Furthermore, the system shows that 

no expenditure is required by MCC on the project to hold the 

licence for the current year (ending March 2023).

 The maximum licence term for a retention licence is 10 years. 

A retention licence may be renewed.

The Group assets of the company, located at Moolyella and Kings-

ton Keith are at an exploration phase and do not produce any 

revenue for the time being. A pre-feasibility study was completed 

by MCC as per above, but has not yet been placed into production. 

The Group expects that production at MCC’s Cape Lambert mine 

will not start in the short term.

An exploration budget (ending December 2023) of approximately 

AUD$760k has been calculated for the company’s Australian 

projects and is predominantly made up of drilling and airborne 

geophysical costs for Moolyella and Kingston Keith. The airborne 

geophysics, in the form of aeromagnetics, will highlight structures 

beneath the ground for drilling. The exploration budget is subject 

to continuous review by the Board, and is dependent on positive 

results generated from exploration work.

Please refer to section 1.2 of the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements for further information.

 Kingston-Keith: The Group holds an exploration license  

(E 53/1953) granted on 9 March 2020 for a period of five years for 

an area of approx. 152 square kilometers in the Kingston-Keith/

Mt. Keith area, situated in a prolific gold and nickel production 

district in central Western Australia, which the Group believes 

has good potential for gold and nickel. The property is an ex-

ploration project with no JORC-compliant mineral resources 

defined as yet.

 Since the November 2021 field visit by Geonomik Pty Ltd, no 

further work has taken place on the ground. Quotes for both 

drilling and an aeromagnetic survey are being sought, with a 

view to drilling in 2023. As with the Moolyella licence above, the 

aeromagnetic survey will help to identify prospective structures 

that may host gold mineralisation for drilling.

 Cape Lambert: The Group holds a royalty on future mine 

production from the MCC Australia Sanjin Mining Pty Ltd 

(“MCC”)’s retention license (R 47/18) on their Cape Lambert 

magnetite project covering an area of approx. 83.68 square 

kilometers in the Cape Lambert region in Western Australia. 

This is a passive holding investment held by the Group. 

 The Group does not expect any royalties from the project in the 

short-term. This expectation is based on the following assump-

tions: Currently, MCC holds a so-called retention license for 

the Cape Lambert project. A retention license is a license at 

an intermediate licensing stage between exploration license 

and mining lease, which allows the holder to retain but not to 

develop a mining project, e.g., because of pending commer-

cial feasibility or the development of required transportation 

infrastructure. 
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Between February 2022 and June 2022, due to the ongoing delays 

in completing the Capital Raise, SunMirror Luxembourg agreed 

with Lat66 several extensions to the closing date of the takeover 

offer and filed with the Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission the relevant supplementary bidder’s statements. 

In April 2022, an agreement was reached with Latitude 66 Cobalt 

Limited to extend the closing date of the takeover offer for a 

consideration of a EUR 4 million loan (non-repayable should the 

takeover not be completed) for its scheduled exploration and mine 

development programme. This arrangement was made on the 

basis of reiterated promises by the Investor, with some supporting 

evidences, that they would be able to fulfil their obligations in 

relation to the Capital Raise. Prior to that, various non-repayable 

loans totalling EUR 3.05 million had already been extended bet-

ween August 2021 and February 2022 to support Latitude 66  

Cobalt Limited’s operation. Proceeds from these loans were retai-

ned within the Lat66 Group to run the business. On 14 June 2022 

the closing date of the takeover offer was extended one final time 

to 12 July 2022, but the acquisition could not be completed.

Please refer to section 8 of the Management Report “Outlook and 

Important events that have occurred since the end of the last busi-

ness year” for further information on the Lat66 acquisition.

LATITUDE 66 ACQUISITION

On 27 August 2021 SunMirror AG through its wholly owned sub-

sidiary SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. entered into a conditional 

binding agreement with Latitude 66 Cobalt Limited to acquire  

100 percent of the shares of Finnish cobalt company Latitude 66  

Cobalt Oy (“Lat66 OY”) from its parent company Latitude 66 

Cobalt Limited (“Parent” or “Lat66”). Further to the announce-

ment made by the Company on 26 August 2021, the Company 

announced that on 19 December 2021 its wholly owned subsidiary 

SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. entered into a bid implementation 

agreement with Latitude 66 Cobalt Limited in connection with 

the proposed offer to acquire the issued share capital of Lat66, the 

parent company of Finnish cobalt company at a price of AUD 0.467 

per Lat66 share. Lat66 OY’s business focus is exploration and 

mine development with its business operations located in Finland. 

Founded 4 years ago, Lat66 Oy is one of the leading explorers of 

cobalt in Europe and controls the largest exploration tenement 

package of any single company in Finland. Lat66 OY’s most advan-

ced mine development project is the fourth largest known cobalt 

deposit in the European Union and the second largest not yet in 

production. In addition, Lat66 OY has an extensive exploration 

portfolio with over 100 targets identified for further exploration. 

The purchase price per Lat 66 share and per performance right 

is AUD 0.467 payable to the Lat 66 shareholders and holders of 

performance rights in cash on closing, for a total amount of AUD 

69,116,00, and a 2% net smelter royalty on future production. The 

Offer was supposed to close on 4 February 2022, if not extended 

(“Offer Period”).

On 30 November 2021 a single investor (the “Investor”) subscribed 

for 1,000,000 new bearer shares at an issue price of EUR 70 per 

share (the “Capital Raise”), of which to date only 248,121 shares 

have been paid and issued. 

Acquisitions
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OTHER ACQUISITIONS

The Group continues to be on the lookout of acquisition opportu-

nities to complement its portfolio of assets in Australia and poten-

tially other developed countries and/or select African countries. 

Some discussions are taking place with companies looking to 

combine or sell assets.
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EARNINGS AND BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS

The consolidated financial statements of SunMirror Group for the 

twelve months ended 30 June 2021 have been prepared on a going 

concern basis in accordance with the International Financial Re-

porting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accoun-

ting Standards Board (IASB).

Revenue

SunMirror did not generate any revenues within the reporting 

period 2021/22 as well as in the comparative period 2020/21. 

The Group assets located at Moolyella and Kingston Keith are 

in an exploration phase and do not produce any revenue for the 

time being. The Group plans to continue exploration on these two 

exploration licenses for the next two years funded by financial 

means already available to the Group as well as other financing 

to be provided by investors. The Cape Lambert mine conducted a 

pre-feasibility study and is now at the mine site design and plan-

ning stage. The Group expects that production at the Cape Lam-

bert mine will not start in the short-term as described above. The 

Group holds a passive royalty and has no influence over actions 

taken by MCC as noted in the Risk Report.

Currently, the two evaluation and exploration assets Moolyella 

and Kingston Keith are being explored for potential resources 

subject to economic development. The costs incurred were fully 

capitalized in the financial years 2020/21 (USD 0.2 million) and 

2021/22 (USD 0.3 million), which is why there were no charges in 

the income statement.

Please note that in the Earnings and Balance Sheet Analysis 

and financial statements sections of this report the thousand 

separation is noted as a dot instead of a comma.

Exploration expenditure
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Personnel expense increased by 112.9% (USD 0,5 million) in 

the reporting year and amount to USD 0,9 million for 2021/22 

(2020/22 USD 0,4 million). The increase in personnel expense 

compared to the prior period arises primarily from the increase in 

the number of full-time equivalents (FTE) from an average of 1,4 

FTE in the financial year 2020/21 to an average of 3.3 FTE in the 

financial year 2021/22.

Personnel expense
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In fiscal year 2021/22, further consulting fees and valuation re-

ports, legal and tax consulting fees, communication and PR costs 

were incurred, which are attributable to the following projects:

 Strategic discussions with shareholder groups.

 Introduction of an internal control system and compliance 

monitoring in accordance with the requirements of the law 

and the Vienna Stock Exchange.

 Preparation of a securities prospectus for the planned capital 

increase to finance the acquisition of Latitude 66.

 Various legal and tax fees and audit fees for due diligence costs 

in connection with the planned acquisition of Latitude 66.

General and administrative expense increased by 2,9% (USD 0.1 

million) in the reporting year and amount to USD 3,8 million for 

2021/22 (2020/22 USD 3,7 million).

In fiscal 2020/21, the main driver was the cost of preparatory work 

for a stock market listing. In fiscal year 2021/22, further costs 

were incurred for the initial listing on the Vienna Stock Exchange, 

which was successfully completed with the admission on No-

vember 26, 2021. The first day of trading was on 30 November 

2021. The costs related to the work on the prospectus are mainly 

included in the categories consulting fees and valuation reports, 

stock exchange fees, legal fees, accounting, tax and auditing fees, 

Professional fees and communication/PR costs.

General and administrative expense
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Impairment of the exclusivity fee, as well as impairment losses 

on financial assets relate exclusively to the failed acquisition of 

Latitude 66 in the fiscal year 2021/22 in the amount of USD 10.8 

million (2020/21: USD 0 million). 

In May 2022, management concluded that it was likely that 

the acquisition of Latitude 66 would not be completed, as the 

agreed contractual conditions for the transaction to be closed, 

and especially those linked to SunMirror’s ability to raise 

additional capital of EUR 70 million, would not be met wit-

hin the required timeframe. This was finally confirmed with 

the withdrawal by Latitude’s independent directors of their 

recommendation to Latitude 66 shareholders that they accept 

SunMirror’s offer on 12 July 2021. 

Net impairment losses on financial assets
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Financial expense increased by 672.3% (USD 3.6 million) in 

the reporting year and amount to USD 4.1 million for 2021/22 

(2020/22 USD 0,5 million). Financial expense is a result of the loss 

on investments in securities of Cadiz Inc., a listed U.S. company, 

interest expense relating to convertible bonds as well as foreign 

currency exchange losses on assets denominated in EUR.

Financial income increased by 13.0% (USD 0,1 million) in the re-

porting year and amounts to USD 1.4 million for 2021/22 (2020/22 

USD 1,3 million). The financial income results primarily from net 

realized foreign exchange gains from the currency translation of 

convertible EUR bonds. Other financial income resulted from the 

reversal of accrued interest expense relating to the prior period, 

which was reversed due to the conversion of a convertible bond 

into equity.

Financial result
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Cash outflow from operating activities increased by 55.1% (USD 1.6 

million) to USD 4.4 million in 2021/22 (2020/21 USD 2.8 million). 

This is mainly because of higher personnel expense, general and 

administrative expense and the timely management of accounts 

payable.

Cash outflow cfrom investing activities decreased by 15,6% (USD 1.1 

million) to USD 5.6 million in 2021/22 (2020/21 USD 6.7 million). In 

2021/22, loans of USD 7.8 million were granted for the potential ac-

quisition of Latitude 66 (2020/21 USD 3.0). To maintain operational 

liquidity the financial assets (Cadiz shares) , which were acquired 

in 2020/21, were sold almost in full in 2021/22.

Cash flow from financing activities increased by 113,5% (USD 11.3 

million) to USD 21.3 million in 2021/22 (2020/21 USD 10.0 million). 

In March 2022 a capital increase of USD 19.5 was completed in 

cash. Total costs of USD 1.8 million were incurred for this capital 

increase. In addition, compulsory convertible notes were issued in 

December 2021, resulting in a cash inflow of USD 4.2 million. Costs 

of USD 0.5 million were incurred in relation to such issuance, which 

will be amortized over the term of the notes.

In the current and previous periods, the Group did not generate 

taxable profits. The accumulated tax loss carry forwards, which 

amounted to USD 22.9 million as of 30 June 2021, further in-

creased as of 30 June 2022 to an amount of USD 37.5 million. No 

deferred tax asset has been recognized in relation to tax loss carry 

forwards due to the uncertainty of realization.

Cashflow StatementIncome Tax
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ASSETS
 

Total assets increased by 1.3% (USD 0.5 million) to USD 41,3 mil-

lion as at end-June 2022 (June 2021: USD 40.8 million). 

Intangible assets remain unchanged from the previous year  

(I.e. Royalty on Cape Lambert). However, due to the changed 

currency situation, they decrease by USD 2.2 million to USD 26.4 

million (June 2021: USD 28.6). Exploration and evaluation assets 

(I.e. Moolyella and Kingston Keith) amount to USD 3.8 million 

(June 2021: USD 3.8 million). The capitalized costs at assets Moo-

lyella and Kingston Keith in the amount of USD 0.3 million were 

reduced by the same amount due to the translation of the foreign 

currency. The deposit payment of USD 3,0 million (June 2021) 

made in the course of the planned acquisition of Latitude 66 

Cobalt Limited (Australia) had to be written off in full in the 

reporting year (June 2022).

The financial assets (listed securities) from the previous year 

were almost completely sold and converted into liquidity in the 

reporting year. 

Cashflow Statement Financial position and capital structure
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LIABILITIES 

Total liabilities decreased by 23.0% (USD 2.5 million) to USD 8.4 

million at the end of June 2022 (June 2021: USD 10,9 million). 

One convertible bond in the amount of USD 6,7 million was con-

verted into equity, a second one in the amount of USD 2,8 million 

at the end of June 2022 was due before June 30, 2022, but effective-

ly repaid on July 5, 2022, due to technical issues at the settlement 

agent. In order to secure operational liquidity, compulsory con-

vertible notes with a term of one year until December 2022 were 

issued in December 2021. This transaction increased the financial 

liability in the reporting year in the amount of USD 3.9 million.
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EQUITY 

Shareholders’ equity increased by 10.2% (USD 3.1 million) to USD 

32.9 million at the end of June 2022 (June 2021: USD 29,8 million). 

At the end of June 2022, the Group had an equity to capitalization 

ratio of 79,6% (June 2021: 73,1%).

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Group carried out two 

capital increases. In the first capital increase in March 2022 

amounting to USD 19,5 million, 248.121 shares were issued at a 

price of EUR 70 per share. In the second capital increase in May 

2022 amounting to USD 6,3 million, 95.100 shares were issues at 

a price of CHF 70 per share. The second capital increase resulted 

from the conversion of issued convertible bonds.

The comprehensive loss for the financial year 2021/22 amounted 

to USD 2.2 million and reflects the stronger dollar in the majority 

against the comparative AUS and EUR currencies. In the previous 

financial year 2020/21 the comprehensive income amounted to 

USD 1.8 million The effect was opposite and reflected the weaker 

USD against the currencies AUS and EUR.
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Registered Office, Financial Year,  
duration of the Company, Corporate Purpose 

COMPANY STRUCTURE

According to Article 2 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the 

statutory purpose of the Company is to promote the long-term value 

of the subsidiaries, affiliated companies or participation through 

uniform administration and centralized services and to provide the 

associated financing. In addition, the Company may buy, sell, bro-

ker, manage and exploit real estate, securities, participations and 

intellectual property rights, establish subsidiaries and branches 

in Switzerland and abroad and carry out all commercial activities 

related to the purpose of the Company.

SunMirror AG is a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) in-

corporated and operating under Swiss law. Its registered office 

is in Zug, Switzerland and it is registered with the commercial 

register office of the canton of Zug under CHE 395.708.464. The 

Company’s address is Steinhauserstrasse 74, 6300 Zug, Switzer-

land, telephone number +41 43 505 14 00. The Company’s website 

is www.sunmirror.com. 

The Company’s legal name is “SunMirror AG”. The Company and 

its subsidiaries operate on the market under the commercial name 

“SunMirror”. The Company is established for an unlimited period 

of time. The Company’s legal entity identifier (LEI) is 894500R3E-

ZWT4CYDM933. The financial year of the Company runs from 1 

July of a calendar year until 30 June of the next calendar year. 
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The Creation and Historical Development of the Company

Couno Resources S.A. (today, SunMirror Luxembourg) acquired 

all shares of Lithium 1 by means of a share purchase agreement 

dated 14 February 2020. Lithium 1 is an Australian company 

which holds an exploration license for the tenements Moolyella 

(Lithium) and Kingston-Keith (Gold and Nickel), both located in 

Western Australia. 

Couno Resources S.A. (today, SunMirror Luxembourg) acquired 

all shares of Pharlap by means of a share purchase agreement 

dated 12 August 2020, amended on 18 December 2020. Pharlap is 

a Singapore company whose main asset is composed of a royalty 

agreement relating to future royalties payable in relation to the 

Cape Lambert magnetite project.

On 30 November 2020, the Shares were included for trading on 

the Vienna MTF (market segment direct market) of Vienna Stock 

Exchange (Wiener Börse).

On 26 November 2021, the Listed Shares were admitted to trading 

on the Official Market (Amtlicher Handel) of the Vienna Stock 

Exchange (Wiener Börse), a regulated market pursuant to Directi-

ve 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 

15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending 

Directive 2002/92/EC and Directive 2011/61/EU, as amended 

(Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II – “MiFID II”). 

The Company was first incorporated under the name Dynastar 

AG on 24 September 2014 with its registered office in Erlenbach 

ZH, Switzerland, and was registered with the commercial register 

office of the Canton of Zurich under CHE-395.708.464.

In 2018, the Company’s shares were admitted to listing on the 

regulated unofficial market segment (Freiverkehr) of Düsseldorf 

Stock Exchange (Börse Düsseldorf).

On 31 August 2020 the Company’s general meeting resolved to 

acquire all shares of Couno Resources S.A. (today, SunMirror 

Luxembourg S.A. – “SunMirror Luxembourg”) by means of a con-

tribution in kind, to change the Company’s name to SunMirror AG  

and to move its registered office from the Canton of Zurich to the 

Canton of Zug. The acquisition of Couno Resources S.A. (today, 

SunMirror Luxembourg) completed on 7 September 2020. 

Thereby, also the subsidiaries of Couno Resources S.A. (today, 

SunMirror Luxembourg), Lithium 1, and Pharlap, became part of 

the Group, resulting in the following structure: 

SunMirror AG 

100%

100% 100%

SunMirror 
Luxembourg S.A.

Pharlap Holdings 
Pte Ltd

Lithium 1 Pty Ltd



Significant Subsidiaries
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The significant subsidiaries of the Company are (i) SunMirror 

Luxembourg, incorporated in Luxembourg, (ii) Lithium 1, incorpo-

rated in Australia, and (iii) Pharlap, incorporated in Singapore. 

The Company holds, directly or indirectly, 100% of all shares and 

all votes in each such company.



RISK REPORT 
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Business related 
risk factors

RISK REPORT

successful exploration such assets will require further investment 

but will not generate revenues in the short-term. For the short-

term, the Group will be dependent solely on equity and equity-

linked funding, such as by means of convertible notes, to finance 

its administration and exploration and development activities. 

Any funding need may increase in case of delays with exploration 

efforts or higher than expected costs. If the Group fails to obtain 

additional funding at all or at reasonable terms, if required, the 

Group may be forced to sell assets, potentially also in distress, 

or even to file for insolvency, which would result in assets being 

impaired and potentially additional liabilities being incurred. 

In addition, the Group owns via its Pharlap Holdings subsidiary a 

royalty (the “Royalty Asset”) on the Cape Lambert Iron Ore Project 

owned by MCC. The Royalty Asset is linked to a retention license 

and associated revenues rely on the commencement date of the 

mining operations, which is currently not yet set. Such date is 

dependent on many factors that are not in control of the Group, 

including but not limited to commodity prices, MCC business 

strategy and credit quality, regulation in Western Australia, glo-

bal macroeconomic dynamics, etc.

Further, any acquisition by the Group of additional exploration 

assets or companies holding exploration assets will require the 

Group to obtain sufficient additional funding from its sharehol-

ders by means of share capital increases.

The Company is a start-up company with no operating history 

and has not generated cash inflows as yet and will continue to be 

dependent on equity or debt funding at acceptable conditions 

in order to finance its business activities. The establishment of 

completely new business activities may fail, especially against the 

background of SunMirror’s focus on mineral exploration com-

panies, however the company aims to mitigate this risk by hiring 

relevant experienced industry personnel and conducting explora-

tion with the objective of establishing mineral resources.

There is significant risk in the identification and proving up re-

sources. While as of today no drilling has been done, there is no 

guarantee that future drilling programs will be successful. This 

means that there is a substantial risk that drilling may outline a 

lower tonnage or grade resource, which would negatively impact 

our valuation and possibly lead to future impairment of assets and 

impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. 

No asset of the Group is expected to generate revenues in the 

short term. 

The Group’s existing exploration assets, the Moolyella project 

and the Kingston-Keith project, are expected to take at least until 

2027 and 2028 before they can be turned into producing mines, 

provided exploration efforts show the envisaged results of proving 

up a viable resource, obtaining a mining license and funding to 

construct an operating mine. Until such stage, even in case of 
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Regulatory 
Risk factors

Commodity market 
related Risk factors

The parent company SunMirror AG issues bearer shares instead 

of registered shares, which is still feasible for publicly listed com-

panies in Switzerland. However, with the global tendency towards 

issuing registered shares, bearer shares may restrict the Group’s 

access to capital in the future. 

If MCC failed to get its retention license approved by Western 

Australia’s department of mines this could have an impact on the 

prospect of SunMirror’s royalty held at its Pharlap subsidiary to 

produce any revenues in the future.

New environmental regulations might create additional requi-

rements on mining developments and fossil fuel usage that may 

have an impact on the future Company’s results of operations and 

financial conditions. Regulations on fossil fuel usage would also 

likely create opportunities given the Company’s focus on battery 

metals resources.

In Western Australia, registered Native Title claimants and 

determined Native Title holders have certain rights under the 

provisions of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (NTA) future act 

regime, when governments intend to conduct business such as the 

granting of mineral tenure that are future acts under the NTA.

The State Government has a policy whereby applicants for explo-

ration licences and prospecting licences will have to sign and offer 

a Regional Standard Heritage Agreement (RSHA) or prove they 

have an existing Alternative Heritage Agreement in place. This 

must happen before the applications will be submitted to the NTA 

Expedited Procedure (Kimberley Region excluded).

The RSHAs provide Aboriginal heritage protection and offer all 

parties with standard fees and procedures for heritage clearances 

that are at an acceptable standard to industry.

Parts of the Moolyella and Kingston Keith exploration licences are 

covered by heritage claims and the company is in close dialogue 

with the aboriginal groups concerned to finalise the respective 

licence RHSAs.

The company does not envisage any problems in concluding the 

RHSAs on both licences in the near future.

The market reacts sensitively to various factors, which is why a 

market forecast is only possible to a limited extent. Price and in-

terest rate developments, inflation, political and social changes 

can be identified as driving factors.

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity 

prices. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse 

impact on net income or loss and economic value due to commo-

dity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely mo-

nitors long term commodity prices, particularly as they relate to 

iron ore, base and precious metals, to determine the appropriate 

course of action to be taken by the Company. SunMirror actively 

monitors its risk of a shortage of funds as SunMirror will need 

extensive funds to finance its future exploration and evaluation 

activities as well as potential acquisitions. When expenses are 

denominated in currencies other than the respective functional 

currencies SunMirror is subject to foreign currency risks. Sun-

Mirror manages this foreign currency risk by matching receipts 

and payments in the same currency and monitoring movements 

in exchange rates. 

In addition, SunMirror might be facing competition from other 

companies, some of which have considerably higher funds at 

their disposal for acquisitions or joint ventures. Furthermore, 

more competitors could lead to more mineral reserves being 

produced and to lower market prices for certain minerals. This 

could result in SunMirror Group’s outlook being less attractive 

to potential capital providers. A lack of access to capital could 

restrict SunMirror’s ability to finance development of its busi-

ness. It could also impact the prospects of SunMirror’s royalty 

asset held at Pharlap.

 



Source: https://www.dmp.wa.gov.au/Minerals/Native-Title-Act-Process-5548.aspx
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Legal risksImpact of Covid-19

The SunMirror Group is exposed to legal risks through its busi-

ness and financing activities. The Sunmirror Group enters into 

contracts with suppliers, contractors, and other counterparties 

that may give rise to disputes and claims. The Group may also 

have claims against counterparties that it may decide to pursue 

and that may give rise to significant legal costs before a successful 

outcome, if any, were to occur. The Group has in-house expertise 

to handle such risks with the assistance of a number of outside 

legal advisors in the various jurisdictions where it operates or has 

business relationships. The Group also carefully monitors its own 

compliance with legal agreements to minimise the risk of legal 

disputes in the future.

Although slowly waning due to the improving health situation, 

central bank and government actions and support measures taken 

in response to the Covid-19 outbreak may create restrictions in 

relation to capital, human resources and mobility. These may limit 

management’s flexibility in managing the business. The Group 

monitors these developments to assess how it could impact its 

business, particularly in relation to asset capex programmes and 

access to capital.
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Impact of inflation, the increase in interest rates, 
and potential risk of global recession

The significant increase in inflation globally could put pressure 

on the Group’s costs. Fortunately, the Group has limited exposure 

to inflation as most of its costs are contracted under medium to 

long term contracts. The Group has limited exposure to materials 

and energy costs in its exploration activities.

Further, central banks globally are fighting inflation with steep 

increases in interest rates. This could result in scarcer and/

or more expensive access to capital which could in turn result 

in acquisitions and capex activities being more challenging to 

complete. 

Finally, the increase in interest rate is likely going to dampen 

global economic growth in the medium term. This could result 

in reduced demand for the commodities that the Group looks to 

produce. However, production will occur in a longer timeframe. 

Separately recession could impact MCC’s plans to develop the 

Cape Lambert Iron Ore Project, which would postpone the date by 

which the Royalty Asset could produce revenues.
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The overall consolidation process includes checking the consis-

tency of the data transmitted and plausibilisation of the financial 

statements as a whole. The consolidation is prepared by using a 

certified professional consolidation software.

To ensure correct and timely completion of the annual report 

by the publication date, deadlines are set for both the half-ye-

ar (interim) and the financial statements. The entire accounting 

function is notified of these in good time. In addition to the annual 

report at the end of each financial year, a halfyear interim report 

is published in accordance with IAS 34.

CONTROLS

The accounting function reports to the CFO. Regular reports to 

the Board of Directors contain information on the asset capex 

programmes, expense outlook, potential legal challenges, and 

opportunities and risks. This ensures ongoing oversight of the 

internal control system. Existing and potential risks are cons-

tantly monitored. This is based on uniform risk guidelines. The 

management is responsible for implementing these guidelines and 

ensuring they are observed. 

In the SunMirror Group, the annual audit schedule is determi-

ned by the Board of Directors on the basis of a proposal by the 

Corporate Accounting department. Focal areas are examining the 

effectiveness of the internal control system, compliance with the 

applicable Reporting Standards and other compliance require-

ments. The results of audits are presented on a case-by-case basis 

as they arise to the Board of Directors.

Corporate Accounting comprises those activities that are neces-

sary to prepare financial statements and consolidated financial 

statements in compliance with the law and IFRS.

STRUCTURE OF ACCOUNTING

The accounting function in the SunMirror Group comprises the 

accounting departments at local companies and the Corporate 

Accounting department in Zurich. The local companies draw up 

financial statements in accordance with local law based on local 

accounting software. The financial statements are submitted quar-

terly to Corporate Accounting in Zurich for final clarification and 

review. The reconciliation of local financial statements to uniform 

IFRS accounting and valuation principles are performed by the 

Corporate Accounting departement in corporation with the consoli-

dation service provider. 

CONSOLIDATION

The IFRS financial statements are drawn up in accordance with 

IFRS accounting and valuation principals as issued by the Inter-

national Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Local financial 

reporting data are checked manually by Corporate Accounting 

(mainly plausibility checks, intercompany reconciliation and 

reconciliation of financial statements according to local GAAP 

into IFRS-compliant accounting and valuation). During this pro-

cess, Corporate Accounting works closely with the consolidation 

service provider. Consolidation work is done twice a year (annual 

group financial statements at June 30 and interim condensed 

group financial statements at December 31). 

ACCOUNTING, CONTROL AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
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CONDITIONAL CAPITAL AND 
CONVERTIBLE NOTES
The Company issued a first convertible note in June 2020, with an 

expiry date on 30 May 2022. The ISIN Code was CH1104954396. 

Of the 133,305 subscription rights, 95,100 were exercised and led 

to the capital increase of 3rd May 2022. These 95,100 new shares 

issued form part of the 343,221 bearer shares which have been 

admitted for trading on 21 October 2022.

With the May 2022 capital increase the conditional capital of the 

company decreased to CHF 904.900,00.

According to Article 3b of the Articles of Association: “The share 

capital shall be increased, excluding shareholders’’ subscription 

rights, by a maximum of 904.900 bearer shares by issuing a maxi-

mum of 904.900 bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 1,00 

each, to be fully paid up, through the exercise of conversion and 

option rights granted to creditors of new bonds or similar debt 

instruments issued by the Company under one or more participa-

tion plans to be established by the Board of Directors. The Board 

of Directors shall determine the details of the terms of issuance.”

Of the remaining 904.900 bearer shares of the conditional capital, 

52.534 shares are allocated to the Compulsory Convertible Notes 

with ISIN CH1142529093 expiring on 20 December 2022. The con-

version of these 52.534 notes is compulsory at the Maturity of the 

Note and will lead to a further capital increase, reducing the con-

ditional capital by the same amount. Upon issuance, the Company 

shall request these shares to be admitted for trading at the Vienna 

Stock Exchange as well.

1. The share capital of SunMirror AG was CHF 2,343,221.00 as at 

30 June 2022 and was divided into 2,343,221 bearer shares with a 

par value of CHF 1.00 per share each, which are fully-paid in. All 

shares are equal in terms of their dividend and voting rights.

As of the 30 June 2022, the 343,221 bearer shares created in 

1H2022 with the capital increases dated 3rd March 2022, and 3rd 

May 2022, have been admitted for trading by the Vienna Stock 

Exchange on 21st October 2022.

AUTHORISED CAPITAL

The Board of Directors is authorized, at any time until 29 of De-

cember 2022 to increase the share capital by a maximum amount 

CHF 751,879.00 by issuing a maximum of 751,879 bearer shares 

with a nominal value of CHF 1.00 each, to be fully paid up.

The Board of Directors is authorised to exclude the subscription 

right of existing shareholders for important reasons and to all-

ocate it to third parties. Important reasons are in particular the 

participation of employees, mergers, the financing of the company, 

financing and refinancing of takeovers, contributions in kind as 

well as placement of the shares on national or international stock 

exchanges. The Board of Directors may also exclude the subscrip-

tion right if the new shares to be created are issued in connection 

with i) a public placement or ii) a private placement to broaden 

the base of qualified shareholders within the meaning of the 

Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes. Shares for which 

subscription rights are granted but not exercised must be used by 

the Board of Directors in the interest of the Company. The Board 

is authorised to determine the issue price of the shares, the type 

of contribution, the allocation to new shareholders and the date of 

dividend entitlement.

DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE  
WITH 243A (1) UGB
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2. As at 30 June 2022, SunMirror AG had a direct stake of 100.0% 

in SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. and was thus the indirect sole 

shareholder of Pharlap Holdings PTE Ltd. As announced in the 

Company’s ad hoc news dated 1 August 2022, the Company tempo-

rarily lost control over Lithium 1 Pty. Ltd. The control was regai-

ned on 2 August 2022, and re-established the 100% ownership of 

Lithium 1 Pty Ltd by SunMirror Luxembourg S.A.

3. According to Article 16 of the Articles of Association: “The 

Board of Directors is composed of one or several members, who 

are elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a term of 

one year and who may be re-elected. The term of office ends on the 

day when the ordinary Meeting of Sahreholders is held. In case 

of by-elections, the new memebrs of the Board of Directors shall 

complete their predecessors’ term of office.”

4. There are no financing agreements nor customer contracts 

containing any customary agreements on a change of control in 

the event of a takeover within the meaning of Section 243a (1) No. 

8 UGB. 

5. There are no compensation agreements within the meaning of 

Section 243a (1) No. 9 UGB.



OUTLOOK 
AND IMPORTANT 

EVENTS
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The bid of SunMirror Luxembourg published on 22 December 

2021 to acquire all shares in Latitude 66 Cobalt Limited pursu-

ed by SunMirror Luxembourg ended unsuccessfully on 12 July 

2022, as the minimum acceptance condition (90% acceptance, 

by number, of all Lat66 shares) was not fulfilled at the end of the 

offer period. Until the very end of the Offer Period, SunMirror 

attempted to meet the agreed requirement to raise EUR 70 million 

of additional capital within the agreed and repeatedly extended 

timeframe. Unfortunately, this did not succeed because only part 

of the EUR 70 million subscribed as part of the capital increase 

was paid by the investor. 

The Group continues to have discussions with Latitude 66 Cobalt 

Limited on potential ways to complete a combination transaction. 

Other acquisition or merger opportunities to reach a critical mass 

are being investigated.

OUTLOOK AND IMPORTANT EVENTS 

Important Events since the end of the last business year
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In the meantime, SunMirror is now fully focused on reducing overheads and expenses wherever possible and in-

vesting available funds primarily in the development of value-added resource projects. Thus, SunMirror wants to 

rapidly develop the Moolyella lithium project, where first rock samples were analysed earlier this year. The Moolyella 

licence is very promising for the occurrence of lithium-bearing pegmatites. This was confirmed by the assays. By fo-

cusing on this boron programme, management hopes to create significant value for the company, particularly given 

neighbouring tenements, such as those owned by Global Lithium Resources, have seen their resources base steadily 

expanding in the last 5 years. The first drilling is planned early next year after an aeromag survey will have identified 

more precise targets. As a further step to advance the resource projects, SunMirror allocated a budget for the Kings-

ton Keith project to start the necessary preliminary work. A first drilling programme is to be carried out there next 

year after an aeromag survey as well. In addition, SunMirror plans to significantly reduce costs and resources by res-

tructuring the group. The companies currently affiliated under SunMirror Luxembourg S.A., Lithium 1 and Pharlap, 

are to be brought under the Swiss group entity. This will save costs for the board and directors of the Luxembourg 

intermediate holding company as well as for the additional annual financial statement there. 

As previously mentioned, in addition to these strategic measures, additional assets can be acquired and be brought 

into the company to increase the portfolio diversification and the value of the company. Some divestitures of non-

core assets are also being considered.

With the favourable momentum underpinning demand for electric vehicles, we believe that the portfolio of assets 

currently held at SunMirror is ideally positioned to benefit from a significant global flow of capital and supportive 

regulation to develop battery metal resources. This is particularly the case given these assets are located in countries 

where environmental and social regulations are aligned with the global push for ESG investing.

Zug, 28 October 2022  

Dr. Heinz Kubli e.h. Laurent Quelin e.h. Daniel Monks e.h.
Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

Outlook for the coming business year
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS

The accompanying notes are an integral part  
of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of profit and loss 



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 56

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  
consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of  
these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of  
these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of  
these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of cash flows
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1. CORPORATE AND  
GROUP INFORMATION

1.1 General information

The consolidated financial statements of SunMirror AG and its 

subsidiaries (collectively, SunMirror Group or the Group) for the 

year ended 30 June 2022 were authorised for issue in accordance 

with a resolution of the directors on 28 October 2022. 

SunMirror AG (the Company or the parent) is incorporated 

and domiciled in Switzerland. The shares are listed under ISIN 

CH0396131929 on the Regulated Market (Amtlicher Handel) of the 

Vienna Stock Exchange, Austria. In addition, the shares are listed 

on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) in Frankfurt, Düsseldorf, and 

Berlin. The address of its registered office and principal place of 

business is Steinhauserstrasse 74, Zug, Switzerland.

SunMirror Group prepares and publishes its financial statements 

in US Dollar (USD), which is the SunMirror Group’s presentation 

currency. Unless otherwise stated, the numbers are rounded to 

whole USD Thousand.

1.2 The Group’s operating activities

In 2020 the Group started its operating activities in the raw ma-

terial sector and is in the early stage of exploration and develop-

ment activities. The current business activities of SunMirror 

Group consist of (besides holding rights for potential royalties) 

managing exploration assets (i.e. the search for and development 

of economically viable reserves of mineral resources). In case of 

successful exploration SunMirror Group also plans to be active 

in the field of the development, mining and extraction of mineral 

resources. 

The Group invests into pre-production mineral exploration as-

sets with a focus on battery metals, iron ore and gold deposits in 

developed markets which meet certain minimum requirements 

in their legislation with regards to labour law and environmen-

tal protection such as, for example Australia, Europe and North 

America), for the purpose of evaluation and exploration with 

the aim to either produce minerals at a later stage or sell those 

properties. The Group currently holds three assets: 

 Moolyella: Lithium 1 Pty Ltd (“Lithium 1”), an indirectly 

fully owned subsidiary of the Company, holding an explora-

tion license in Moolyella, located in Northwestern Australia. 

Management believes that the site has potential for lithium-

bearing pegmatites. 

 Kingston-Keith: Lithium 1 holds an exploration license in 

the Kingston-Keith/Mt. Keith area, situated in a prolific gold 

and nickel production district in central Western Australia, 

which Management believes has potential for gold and nickel. 

 Cape Lambert: Pharlap Holdings Pte (“Pharlap”), an indi-

rect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, holds a royalty 

on future mine production from the MCC Australia Sanjin 

Mining Pty Ltd’s retention license on their Cape Lambert 

magnetite project in the Cape Lambert region in Western 

Australia.

All assets of Lithium 1 are in an exploration phase and do not pro-

duce any revenue for the time being. The Group plans to continue 

exploration for the next few years based on its two exploration 

licenses. The Group expects that production at the Cape Lambert 

mine will not start in the short term and thus the Group will only 

start to receive royalties at a later stage, subject to the decision to 

begin development of an operating mine by MCC Australia Sanjin 

Mining Pty Ltd. The commencement of the mining operations is 

currently not yet set.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group incurred a net loss 

for the period of USD 18,3 million (2021: USD 3,4 million) and net 

cash outflow from operating and investing activities of USD 10,0 

million (2021: USD 9,5 million). 

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Group carried out two 

capital increases. In the first capital increase in March 2022 

amounting to USD 19,5 million, 248.121 shares were issued at a 

price of EUR 70 per share. In the second capital increase in May 

2022 amounting to USD 6,3 million, 95.100 shares were issues at 

a price of CHF 70 per share (refer to Note 4). The second capital 

increase resulted from the conversion of issued convertible bonds.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had net assets of USD 32,9 million 

(June 2021: USD 29,8 million) including cash of USD 10,6 million 

(June 2021: USD 0,4 million) and readily marketable securities of 

a publicly listed company of USD 0,1 million (June 2021: USD 4,3 

million). Net current assets (-liabilities) as at 30 June 2022 amount 

to USD 2,7 million (June 2021: USD -5,6 million).

The financial year 2022/23 is focused on developing the existing 

asset Moolyella and Kingston Keith with moderate base case 

capital expenditures of USD 345 thousand. The budget prepared 

for the fiscal year 2022/23 and the subsequent six months at group 

level reflects this scenario. Should acquisitions be made, these 

would have to be financed with corresponding capital increases.

In the base case scenario, which foresees a conversion of the 

currently issued compulsory convertible notes, the Directors have 

a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate liquidity 

resources to continue as a going concern.

2. SIGNIFICANT  
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of SunMirror Group have 

been prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

2.2 Going concern 

The Directors continues to have a reasonable expectation that the 

Group has adequate resources to continue as a going concern for 

at least the next 12 months, and that going concern accounting 

remains appropriate. 

The appropriateness of the Group’s ability to continue as going 

concern, is dependent on the availability of sufficient liquidity 

to finance the Group’s on-going operations. As the Group, in its 

current stage as an exploration company, does not generate any 

operating cash inflows or revenues, a material uncertainty exists, 

that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. Therefore, the group may be unable 

to realise the assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 

course of business.
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Further, the Company has planned certain exploration activities 

in the next fiscal year. If these activities do not yield a positive 

result, it is possible that the Company would decide to sell assets 

or discontinue certain operations that could result in due course 

in the Company not continuing as a going concern.

Based on these factors, the Directors have a reasonable expec-

tation that the Group has adequate liquidity and resources to 

continue as a going concern.

We have sensitised the following assumptions underlying the 

Company’s budget through December 2023 and do not believe 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern would be 

materially impacted given the scale of the Group’s operations and 

commitment:

 Inflation risk

 Settlements of certain claims

 Legal costs escalation due to potential claims 

However, if other unexpected events (including unexpected cash out 

flows in relation to future litigation proceedings not currently com-

menced) were to occur, some of the mitigating measures within the 

Directors control, to reduce costs, optimize cash flow and preserve 

liquidity include, but are not limited, to:

 reduce non-essential capital expenditure and cancelling di-

scretionary spending; and

 dispose of some of the Group’s non-essential assets.
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 2.3 Basis of consolidation

The following entities form the consolidation scope of these consoli-

dated financial statements as of 30 June 2022:

There was no change in the group of consolidated companies from 

prior year. See note 2.6 for information relating to the determina-

tion of the functional currency for each entity.
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All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 

cash flows relating to transactions between the members of the 

Group are eliminated on consolidation.

The Group determines whether a transaction represents a 

business combination by assessing whether the acquired assets 

and assumed liabilities constitute a business i.e. they must 

include inputs and substantive processes that have the ability to 

contribute to the creation of outputs. If the transaction does not 

represent a business combination, then the acquirer recognizes 

individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 

The acquisition cost is allocated to the individual identifiable 

assets and liabilities based on their relative fair values and no 

goodwill is recognized. 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisi-

tion method. 

The consideration transferred in a business combination is mea-

sured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisi-

tion-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities 

incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and 

the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control of 

the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognized in profit or 

loss as incurred.

2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 

these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 

been consistently applied to all of the years presented, unless 

otherwise stated.

2.4.1 Consolidation principles and  
business combinations

SunMirror AG consolidates all entities over which it exercises con-

trol (subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the Company:

 has the power over the investee;

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involve-

ment with the investee; and

 has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

SunMirror reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts 

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 

of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains 

control over the subsidiary and ceases when SunMirror loses 

control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries 

acquired or disposed of during the year are included in profit or 

loss from the date SunMirror gains control until the date when 

SunMirror ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial state-

ments of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into 

line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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Exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each 

separate area of interest are recognized as an exploration and 

evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the 

following conditions are satisfied:

 The rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and

 At least one of the following conditions is met:

- The exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected 

to be recouped through successful development and exploi-

tation of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or

- Exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest 

have not at the balance sheet date reached a stage which 

permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwi-

se of economically recoverable reserves, and active and sig-

nificant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest 

are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost 

and include acquisition of rights to explore, studies, exploratory 

drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and 

an allocation of depreciation and amortization of assets used in 

exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative 

costs are only included in the measurement of exploration and 

evaluation costs where they are related directly to operational 

activities in a particular area of interest. 

2.4.2 Exploration and evaluation

Pre-license costs relate to costs incurred before the Group has 

obtained legal rights to explore in a specific area. Such costs may 

include the acquisition of exploration data and the associated 

costs of analyzing that data. These costs are expensed in the peri-

od in which they are incurred.

Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for mine-

ral resources, the determination of technical feasibility and the 

assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. 

Exploration and evaluation activity includes:

 Researching and analyzing historical exploration data 

 Gathering exploration data through geophysical studies 

 Exploratory drilling and sampling 

 Determining and examining the volume and grade of the 

resource 

 Surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements 

 Conducting market and finance studies
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2.4.3 Intangible assets

Intangible assets include primarily the Royalty Agreement ac-

quired as part of the acquisition of Pharlap Holdings. Given that 

the Royalty Agreement was the only asset acquired, the value 

of the intangible was determined by reference to the purchase 

consideration.

The Royalty Agreement will become effective for a defined period 

only once development activities will begin. As this is not yet the 

case, the intangible is considered to have an indefinite life, and 

is therefore tested for impairment at each reporting date (Note 

2.4.5). As of 30 June 2022, there were no indicators of impairment. 

Once the Royalty Agreement becomes available for use, its useful 

life will be reassessed.

Furthermore, intangible assets contain domains, which are mea-

sured at cost. The domains have indefinite useful life and are thus 

not amortized but instead tested for impairment at least annually, 

or as soon as there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Useful lives of intangible assets are re-assessed at each reporting 

date.

An acquired group of assets including exploration and evaluation 

assets that do not constitute a business are accounted for by the 

Group by identifying and recognizing the individual identifiable 

assets and liabilities assumed. The cost incurred is allocated to 

the individual identifiable asset and liabilities based on their 

relative fair values at the date of purchase. 

Exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment in 

accordance with the requirements of IFRS 6 i.e., when facts and 

circumstances suggest that the carrying amount of an exploration 

and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. Where 

an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount 

of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 

amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount 

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been deter-

mined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 

previous years.

Where a decision has been made to proceed with development in 

respect of a particular area of interest, the relevant exploration 

and evaluation asset is tested for impairment and the balance is 

then reclassified to development and then amortized over the life 

of the reserves associated with the area of interest once mining 

operations have commenced. Any changes in the factors such as 

estimates of proved and probable reserve (change in the life of the 

reserves) that affect unit of production calculation are dealt with 

on a prospective basis.

In determining the costs of site restoration there is uncertainty 

regarding the nature and extent of the restoration due to commu-

nity expectations and future legislation. Accordingly, the costs 

have been determined on the basis that the restoration will be 

completed within one year of abandoning the site.

The Group’s exploration and evaluation assets are classified as in-

tangible assets in line with IFRS 6. 
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2.4.5 Impairment testing

The Group assesses at each reporting date, whether there is an 

indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, 

or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 

Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. In assessing 

impairment indicators of exploration and evaluation assets and 

royalty and similar agreements for these assets, the Group refers 

to guidance provided under IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation 

of Mineral Resources. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher 

of an assets or Cash Generating Unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of 

disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determi-

ned for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 

inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or 

groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU 

exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired 

and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing an impairment test for Exploration for and Evalua-

tion of Mineral Resources, the Group considers market related 

risk factors such as general price and market environment, social 

perception, and marketability of resources, sanctions and geopo-

litical developments, currency movements and financing options. 

In addition, the impairment test analyzes asset related risk factors 

such as remaining lifetime of exploration rights, legal risk, ad-

ditional expenditure risks, changes in legal frameworks succeed 

or failure of adjacent projects and insufficient commercially reco-

verable amounts.

2.4.4 Fair value measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date. For some assets and 

liabilities, observable market transactions or market information 

is available. For other assets and liabilities, observable market 

transactions or market information might not be available. When 

a price for an identical asset or liability is not observable, another 

valuation technique is used. To increase consistency and compa-

rability in fair value measurements, there are three levels of the 

fair value hierarchy. Level 1 contains the use of quoted prices in 

active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are 

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability either directly or indirectly. Le-

vel 3 inputs are unobservable. Within this hierarchy level estima-

ted values were made, based on reasonable assumptions including 

other fair value methods by management. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial state-

ments at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines 

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 

by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input 

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the 

end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has deter-

mined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, 

characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of 

the fair value hierarchy, as explained above.

As of the reporting date, the Group’s investment in the shares of a 

publicly listed company is measured at fair value on a recurring 

basis. In addition, fair values are used for impairment testing as 

described in the next chapter.
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2.4.6 Taxes

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the 

amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation aut-

horities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 

are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the repor-

ting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates 

taxable income. 

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax 

returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regu-

lations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions 

where appropriate.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary 

differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 

their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 

reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary 

differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible 

temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits and 

any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the 

extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward 

of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilized 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates 

that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is realized, or 

the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

At each reporting date the Group assess whether there is an 

indication that previously recognized impairment losses no 

longer exist or have decreased. If such indication exists, the Group 

estimates the assets or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously 

recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 

change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s reco-

verable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. 

The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 

does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 

had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior 

years. Such reversal is recognized in the statement of profit or loss 

unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case, the 

reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.

No reversal was recognized in the statement of profit or loss du-

ring the period ended 30 June 2022.

.
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The functional currency the parent entity and each of its subsi-

diaries, is the currency of the primary economic environment in 

which the entity operates. For all entities the functional currency 

is their respective local currency, except for Pharlap Holdings, Sin-

gapore, whose functional currency is the Australian Dollar (AUD). 

This is reflective of the activities of the entity, and in particular the 

location of the assets held by the entity, and related anticipated 

royalty income stream also being in AUD. 

The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on dis-

posal of a foreign operation, the gain or loss that is reclassified to 

the statement of profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from 

using this method.

Following exchange rates were used for translation into Group̀ s 

reporting currency (USD):

2.4.7 Foreign currencies

The Group’s financial statements are presented in USD, which is 

different to the functional currency of the parent company (CHF). 

The Group intends to expand its activities within the mineral 

sector, whose main currency is the USD.

For each subsidiary, the Group determines the functional curren-

cy and items included in the financial statements of each entity 

are measured using that functional currency. 

The determination of functional currency may involve certain 

judgements to identify the primary economic environment and 

the parent entity reconsiders the functional currency of its entities 

if there is a change in events and conditions which determined the 

primary economic environment.
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Presentation currency
Selecting a presentation currency that is different from the 

functional currency requires a translation from the functional 

currency into the presentation currency. The results and financial 

position are translated using the following procedures:

 Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are 

translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date.

 Income and expenses for each statement presenting profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income are translated at 

exchange rates at the transaction dates. The Group uses 

average rates as approximates to the exchange rates at the 

transaction date.

 All resulting exchange differences are recognized in other 

comprehensive income, and they are accumulated as a separa-

te reserve, as a component of equity (other reserves). 

 

2.4.8 Financial instruments

Financial assets
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value (this 

includes transaction costs except in the initial measurement of 

financial assets and liabilities that will be measured at fair value 

through profit or loss). Financial assets are classified at initial re-

cognition, as either subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair 

value through other comprehensive income (OCI), or fair value 

through profit or loss. The classification of financial assets at ini-

tial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash 

flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing 

them. For a financial asset to be classified and measured at amor-

tized cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash 

flows that are ’solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on 

the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to 

as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level. Financial 

assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measu-

red at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business 

model. 

Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the 

Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot rates 

at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at 

the reporting date. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost 

in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 

the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items mea-

sured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. 

In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recogni-

tion of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the 

derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability 

relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is 

the date on which the Group initially recognizes the non-moneta-

ry asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance con-

sideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, 

the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or 

receipt of advance consideration.

Foreign exchange gains or losses are included in financial income 

or financial expenses.
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Impairment of financial assets
An allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) has to be recog-

nized for all financial debt instruments not held at fair value 

through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between 

the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 

and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discoun-

ted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. 

The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of 

collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral 

to the contractual terms. Group’s financial assets measured at 

amortized cost contain loans to shareholders and receivables from 

cash-pooling with related parties. The Group reassesses the credit 

risk and ECLs on these positions at each reporting date. 

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in 

calculating ECLs. Under this approach, the Group does not track 

changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance 

based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. As of 30 June 2022, 

the Group has no trade receivables.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual 

payments are past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may 

also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or ex-

ternal information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive 

the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into 

account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial 

asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of 

recovering the contractual cash flows. 

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers 

to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash 

flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will 

result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the finan-

cial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at 

amortized cost are held within a business model with the objec-

tive to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash 

flows while financial assets classified and measured at fair value 

through OCI are held within a business model with the objective 

of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are 

classified in four categories:

 Financial assets at amortized cost 

 Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of 

cumulative gains and losses 

 Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no 

recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition 

(equity instruments)

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial assets mainly consist of investments 

in shares of a publicly listed company measured at fair value 

through profit or loss, a loan given, and cash and cash equivalents 

measured at amortized cost.

A financial asset is primarily derecognized when either the rights 

to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or the Group has 

transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has 

assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows to a third 

party.
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Compound financial instruments
Financial instruments which, in addition to a liability component 

(a contractual arrangement to deliver cash or another financial 

asset), contain an equity component (i.e. grant an option to the 

holder of the instrument to convert it into an equity instrument 

of the entity), are regarded as compound financial instruments. If 

this is the case, the two components must be separated and classi-

fied respectively as financial liabilities and equity. 

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is 

the present value of the contractually determined stream of future 

cash flows discounted at the rate of interest applied at that time 

by the market to instruments of comparable credit status and pro-

viding substantially the same cash flows, on the same terms, but 

without the conversion option. For the subsequent measurement, 

the effective interest rate method is applied whereby the trans-

action costs are therefore to be distributed over the term with an 

effect on income.

The initial carrying amount of the equity component is determi-

ned as the residual amount after deducting from the fair value of 

the entire instrument, the amount separately determined for the 

liability component. The equity component is subsequently not 

remeasured until maturity. Furthermore, if conversion option(s) 

are not exercised, the amount recorded in equity is not reclassified 

(or ’recycled’), although it can be transferred from one equity re-

serve to another. If, at maturity, the lenders elect to receive shares, 

the Company derecognises the liabilities in full and recognises an 

increase in equity of the same amount. No gain or loss is recorded 

on conversion. Conversely, if the lenders elect to receive cash, the 

Company derecognises the liability and recognises a correspon-

ding decrease in cash.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, financial 

liabilities at amortized cost, or as derivatives designated as hed-

ging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, 

in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 

attributable transaction costs. For purposes of subsequent mea-

surement, financial liabilities are classified in two categories – 

at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss if held for 

trading or so designated at initial recognition so as to reduce a 

measurement or recognition inconsistency. 

The Group’s financial liabilities mainly consist of loans received 

and trade and other payables measured at amortized cost. 

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under 

the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an 

existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 

same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 

existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange 

or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original 

liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in 

the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the statement 

of profit or loss.
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2.4.11 Provisions for pensions and  
other employee benefits

The liability or asset recognized in the balance sheet in respect 

of defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less 

the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is cal-

culated annually by independent actuaries using the projected 

unit credit method.

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined 

by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest 

rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency 

in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms approxima-

ting to the terms of the related obligation.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to 

the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value 

of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit expense in 

the statement of profit or loss. 

Actuarial valuations for the obligations are drawn up annually on 

the balance sheet date. An actuarial valuation is made based on 

various assumptions. These include the calculation of the discount 

rates for unaccrued interest, future wage and salary increases, the 

mortality rate and future pension increases.

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjust-

ments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in 

the period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive 

income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of 

changes in equity and in the balance sheet.

Hybrid instruments, which contain both an equity host and an 

embedded derivative that is required to be separated from a host 

contract are measured at fair value on the balance sheet. The host 

contract’s carrying value at initial recognition is the difference 

between the fair value of the entire instrument as a whole and the 

embedded derivative’s fair value. An embedded derivative that 

is required to be separated from a host contract is measured at 

fair value on the balance sheet, with changes in fair value being 

accounted for through profit or loss.

2.4.9 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in banks and on hand 

and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of chan-

ges in value.

2.4.10 Equity

Share capital represents the nominal value of the shares that have 

been issued. As of 30 June 2022, the Company has 2.343.221 ordi-

nary bearer shares in issue, each with a nominal value of 1 CHF. 

Capital reserves arise through transactions of a capital nature (i.e. 

capital increase) by means of a cash contribution and a contribu-

tion in kind net of related transaction costs. The capital reserves 

also arise through equity components of convertible notes at 

the date of recognition (i.e. value of the conversion rights), and 

through the conversion of the convertible notes into shares at the 

date of conversion.
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2.5.2 Standards issued but not yet effective

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting 

standards and interpretations have been published that are not 

mandatory for 30 June 2022 reporting periods and have not been 

early adopted by the group. These standards, amendments or 

interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the 

entity in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseea-

ble future transactions.

2.6 Critical accounting judgements and assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires 

management to make judgements, assumptions and estimates that 

affect the reported amounts of expenses, assets and liabilities and 

the accompanying disclosures. Key sources of estimation uncer-

tainty could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment 

to the carrying amount of affected assets or liabilities in future 

periods. The assumptions about future periods may, however, 

change due to circumstances arising beyond the control of the 

management. In such cases the changes in the assumptions will be 

reflected when they occur.

In preparation of the consolidated financial statements, Manage-

ment made no critical judgements and estimates, that require 

disclosure under IAS 1.

For defined contribution plans in UK, the group pays contributi-

ons to publicly or privately administered pension insurance plans 

on a mandatory, contractual, or voluntary basis. The group has 

no further payment obligations once the contributions have been 

paid. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expen-

se when they are due.

The Company also operates an equity settled share-based com-

pensation plan for one participant. The fair value of such award 

is measured at grant date of the shares, and the number expected 

to vest estimated based on non-market performance conditions 

(refer to note 6.2). The number of shares expected are revised at 

the end of each reporting period and, if required, an adjustment 

recorded in profit or loss and the share-based payment reserve in 

equity. 

Where shares are forfeited due to a failure by the participant to 

satisfy the performance condition, any expense previously recog-

nized is reversed.

2.5 Changes in relevant  
accounting standards

2.5.1 Initial application of standards  
in the fiscal year

In the fiscal year 2022 no new accounting standards or interpre-

tations became effective, which would have significant impact 

on the Group, however the following Amendments to IFRS were 

considered in the preparation of the consolidated financial 

statements.

 Amendments to IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts – deferral of IFRS 

9. The amendments did not have any impact of the financial 

statements of the Group.

 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 in-

terest rate benchmark reform – phase 2. The amendments did 

not have any impact of the financial statements of the Group.

 Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Covid-19-related rent conces-

sions beyond 30 June 2021. The amendments did not have any 

impact of the financial statements of the Group.
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As part of the preparation of the financial statements for the year 

2021/2022, the accounting treatment of the compulsory con-

vertible note as of 31 December 2021, was reanalysed based on 

the contractual terms of the note and deemed not to be correct. 

Specifically, it was concluded that the contract is a hybrid instru-

ment with an equity host contract given the obligation to deliver a 

fixed number of shares, with an embedded contingent put option 

to redeem in cash at 75 EUR per note in the event of a change of 

control. At inception, a financial liability was therefore recognized 

in the amount of the redemption price of 75 EUR by the number 

of compulsory convertible notes issued. The financial liability 

was measured using the effective interest method. The effective 

interest is nil as the liability is equal to the redemption price 

as the liability can be redeemed at any time, in case of a change 

of control. The difference between the amount of the financial 

liability, and proceeds received upon issue of the note reflect the 

equity element. 

The correction has a significant effect on debt and equity of 

SunMirror Group as of 31 December 2021. The equity increases 

by USD 11.037 thousand as of 31 December 2021, thereof capital 

reserves increase by USD 10.059 thousand, loss of the period 

decreases by USD 1.402 thousand and reserves for foreign ex-

change translation decrease by USD 424 thousand. The financial 

liabilities decrease by USD 11.037 thousand. The positive effect 

on the profit or loss is affecting the financial result and is mainly 

caused by the omission of fair value accounting for the embed-

ded derivative.

3. COMPULSORY CONVERTIBLE 
NOTES – CORRECTION  
AT 30 JUNE 2022 

In a private placement with institutional investors, SunMirror AG 

placed a compulsory convertible note on 20 December 2021. As of 

31 December 2021, 52.534 notes had been placed at a price of EUR 

68,18 each, representing a cash inflow of EUR 3,6 million (USD 4,1 

million). The issued notes are convertible into bearer shares of the 

Company with a conversion price of EUR 75 each. The compulsory 

conversion date is December 20, 2022.

The compulsory convertible note was initially recognized in the 

consolidated interim financial statements of the SunMirror Group 

as of 31 December 2021. Due to the conditions for early repayment 

triggered by a change of control, a separable embedded derivati-

ve (forward) was initially recognized. This repayment obligation 

was considered to qualify as a financial liability and measured 

at amortized cost using the effective interest method based on a 

discount rate of 5,65%. On the other hand, the embedded derivati-

ve was measured at fair value, estimated as the difference between 

the fair value of the shares at initial recognition of the note and 

the value at reporting date. The amount of the embedded deriva-

tive at 31 December 2021 was therefore measured by reference to 

the share price as at that date, being EUR 270. 



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 76

Overview of the impact of the correction on the Interim Balance 

Sheet and Statement of Profit and Loss as of 31 December 2021:
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4. SIGNIFICANT  
TRANSACTIONS AND EVENTS

Increase in authorized capital

On 30 November 2021, the Company received subscription for one 

million new bearer shares to be issued from the authorized capital. 

The new shares have an issue price of EUR 70 per share, which 

accordingly generates gross proceeds of EUR 70 million (USD 80 

million) for SunMirror.

Notification of early partial conversion  
of the convertible bond

On 8 October 2021, a holder of the convertible bond maturing 30 

May 2022 exercised its right under which a bond value of EUR 6,0 

million (USD 7,1 million) can be converted into shares of 

 SunMirror AG in accordance with the terms of the agreement. Ba-

sed on the conversion price of CHF 70 per share, this corresponds 

to the issuance of a total of 95.100 new bearer shares. The conver-

sion was made on 4 May 2022.

The holders of the second convertible bond have not exercised 

their conversion rights. Due to technical problems with the 

paying agent, the repayment was delayed until 5 July 2022. For 

this reason, the liability including interest as of 30 June 2022 in 

the amount of USD 2,8 million is still included in the statement of 

financial position.

Admission to the Vienna Stock Exchange  
and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange

On 26 November 2021, the Vienna Stock Exchange admitted the 

shares of SunMirror AG to listing on the Regulated Market (Amt-

licher Handel) in the Standard Market Continuous segment. The 

first trading day was 29 November 2021.

On 30 November 2021, trading of the SunMirror AG shares star-

ted on the Open Market (Freiverkehr) of the Frankfurt Stock Ex-

change. In addition, since 1 December 2021, SunMirror’s shares 

have been listed in the electronic XETRA electronic trading 

system of Deutsche Börse in Frankfurt.

Placement of a compulsory convertible  
note with institutional investors

In a private placement with institutional investors, SunMirror AG 

placed a compulsory convertible note on 20 December 2021. As of 

30 June 2022, 52.534 subscribed rights had been placed at a price 

of EUR 68,18 each, representing a cash inflow of EUR 3.572 thou-

sand (USD 4.157 thousand).

The issued notes are convertible into bearer shares of the Compa-

ny with a conversion price of EUR 75 each. The conversion date is 

20 December 2022. (See note 3).
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Further topics

The war in Ukraine has permanently changed the global economic 

order and high inflation threatens to become a long-term pro-

blem. As the Group did not yet start its operating activities and 

is neither active in the Russian nor in the Ukrainian market the 

Group is not expecting material impact on its consolidated finan-

cial statements. However, due to the volatile geopolitical situation, 

including its consequent potential impact on mineral prices, the 

Group is closely monitoring the impacts of the Russia-Ukraine war 

on its business.

Acquisition of Latitude 66

In May 2022, management concluded that it was likely that the 

acquisition of Latitude 66 would not be executed, as the agreed con-

tractual conditions for the transaction to be completed, and espe-

cially those linked to SunMirror’s ability to raise additional capital 

of EUR 70 million, would not be met within the required timeframe. 

This was finally confirmed by the withdrawal by Latitude’s indepen-

dent directors of their recommendation to Latitude 66 shareholders 

that they accept SunMirror Luxembourg SA’s acquisition offer on 

 12 July 2021. 

Group’s Management therefore decided that the amounts pre-

viously capitalised in respect of the acquisition should be fully 

impaired. This concerned the exclusivity fee paid as well as loans 

granted to the potential acquiree, which were only repayable in 

case of successful acquisition (see Note 5.5). The non-recoverable 

costs for the acquisition of Latitude 66 total EUR 9,6 million (USD 

10,8 million), of which EUR 4,0 million (USD 4,5 million) has 

already been recognized and impaired in the interim financial 

statements as of 31 December 2021. Total impairments in relation 

to acquisition of Latitude 66 are shown in the line-item Impair-

ment losses in the profit or loss statement. 
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5. DETAILS ON PERFORMANCE 
AND BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

5.1 Revenue

The Group did not start its operating activities yet, therefore no 

revenue had been generated in the reporting period and in the 

comparative period. 

5.2 Exploration expenditure

Currently, the two evaluation and exploration assets Moolyella 

and Kingston Keith are being explored for potential resources 

subject to economic development. The costs incurred were fully 

capitalized in the financial years 2020/21 (USD 0,2 million) and 

2021/22 (USD 0,3 million), which is why there were no charges in 

the statement of profit and loss.

5.3 Personnel expenses
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5.4 General and administrative expenses

The consulting fees contain professional fees paid to Opus Capital 

Switzerland AG, Zug, Switzerland and Opus Capital Asset Manage-

ment GmbH, Zug, Switzerland. For related party transactions, 

please prefer to Note 6.3.

5.5 Impairment losses 

Impairment of the exclusivity fee, as well as impairment losses 

on financial assets relate exclusively to the failed acquisition of 

Latitude 66 (see Note 4).
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5.6 Financial result

The financial income results primarily from net realized foreign 

exchange gains from the currency translation of convertible EUR 

bonds. 

Financial expense is a result of the loss on investments in securi-

ties of Cadiz Inc., a listed U.S. company, interest expense relating 

to convertible bonds as well as foreign currency exchange losses 

on assets denominated in EUR.
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5.8 Loss per share

Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attri-

butable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

Accounting for the capital increase as of 30 June 2021, the weight-

ed average of outstanding shares during the twelve months ended 

30 June 2022 was 2.094.000. 

The weighted average of outstanding shares for the comparative 

period (1 July 2021 - 30 June 2022) was calculated by dividing 

the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of 

the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the year. The weighted average of outstan-

ding shares during the twelve months ended 30 June 2022 was 

1.859.863.

Dilutive potential is contained in the compulsory convertible 

notes the Company entered into in December 2021. If full conver-

sion potential of the loan would be exercised, the holders of the 

loans would receive 52.534 shares of the Company. Refer to Note 

6.1 resulting in an anti-dilutive impact.

5.9 Segment reporting

The Group did not yet start its operating activities, therefore 

only one operating and reportable segment has been identified. 

Consequently, the conduct of exploration activities can be regar-

ded as the Group’s sole segment. 

5.7 Income tax

In the current and the comparative periods, the Group did not 

generate taxable profits. The accumulated tax losses carryfor-

ward, which amounted to USD 22.875 thousand as of 30 June 2021, 

further increased as of 30 June 2022 to an amount of USD 37.454 

thousand. No deferred tax asset has been recognized in relation to 

tax loss carry forwards due to the uncertainty of realization.

Tax loss carryforwards currently available in Switzerland 

amount to CHF 14.398 thousand and can be used to offset any 

taxable profits in the years 2025-2029. Those available in Lu-

xembourg amount to EUR 20.850 thousand and can be utilised 

against taxable profits between 2034-2039 whereas those in 

Australia and Singapore can be claimed for an unlimited period. 

The potential tax benefit from such unused tax losses is estima-

ted in Switzerland as the sum of Federal and Cantonal corporate 

income tax, currently amounting to 12%. In other territories, the 

applicable tax benefit is based on the corporate income tax rate 

applicable in each jurisdiction, being 17% in Luxembourg as well 

as in Singapore and 30% in Australia.

No deferred tax on temporary differences has been recognized 

in the period, given the significant amount of deferred tax assets 

available to offset any resulting deferred tax liability.
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5.10 Intangible assets

Intangible assets contain primarily Royalty Agreement relating 

to future royalties payable in relation the Cape Lambert Magne-

tite Project. The decrease in value during the fiscal year resulted 

exclusively from currency translation effects. 

The Royalty Agreement is not yet available for use and is therefore 

tested for impairment at each reporting date (see Note 2.4.5). 

The Group tested whether the Royalty Agreement has suffered any 

impairment on an annual basis. For the 2022 and 2021 repor-

ting periods, no impairment indicator defined under IFRS 6 was 

identified. The carrying value of the Royalty Asset is linked to a 

retention license (see Note 1.2). The commencement of the mining 

operations is currently not yet set.
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5.11 Exploration & evaluation assets

Exploration potential acquired consists of the estimated fair value 

attributable to exploration licenses acquired as part of an asset 

deal (Note 3). In the period, there has been no facts or circumstan-

ces to suggest that the carrying amount of exploration assets may 

exceed its recoverable amount. 

In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tene-

ments the Group will be required to outlay approximately USD 70 

thousand per year to meet minimum expenditure requirements 

for the duration of the tenements. 
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5.12 Other assets

Other assets include a deposit payment of USD 0 thousand (in PY 

USD 2.972 thousand) relating to the potential business acquisition 

of Latitude 66. This non-refundable fee paid in the 2021 financial 

year allowed the Company an exclusivity to perform due diligence 

and negotiate the transaction. As the acquisition of Latitude 66 

was not ultimately concluded in 2022, the amount was fully impai-

red. Details relating to the transaction are provided in Note 4.

5.13 Financial assets

Securities at fair value through profit or loss contain short-term 

investments in shares of a publicly listed company. For additional 

details on financial instruments refer to Note 6.1. For terms and 

conditions of loan to shareholders, refer to note 6.3.

5.14 Other receivables

Prepayments and accrued income contain primarily prepaid 

expenses for insurance, research and consulting services as well 

as prepaid bank fees. Accrued income contain primarily interest 

income.
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5.15 Cash and cash equivalents

The increase in cash and cash equivalents is related to the capital 

increase from March 2022

5.16 Shareholders’ equity

The increase in share capital is due to newly issued shares as de-

scribed in the Note 2.2 and Note 4. 

Refer to notes 2.2, 2.4.10, and 4 for additional information relating 

to capital increases.

5.17 Financial liabilities

The compulsory convertible note was issued on December 20, 2021, 

with maturity on 20 December 2022. For details see Note 3. 
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Convertible bonds at amortized cost reflect the liability compo-

nent of the convertible debt instruments. The compulsory conver-

tible notes are presented in the balance sheet as follows:

The component recognized in equity in the amount of USD 415 

thousand represents the difference between the issue price and 

the redemption price of the issued compulsory convertible notes. 

For additional details on financial instruments refer to Note 6.1. 

The tables below provide details on the cash flows from finan-

cing activities:

The cash flow from the issue of the compulsory convertible notes 

includes cash proceeds net of transaction costs. Non-cash effective 

component includes the effect of discounting and foreign ex-

change effects.
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Defined benefit plans:
The Company pays contributions to defined benefit plans for 

post-employment benefits. The pension fund provides benefits in 

the event of retirement, death, or disability. The plan’s benefits are 

based on age, years of service, salary and on an individual old age 

account. The plan is funded by assets held within the legal sepa-

rate entity of the foundation. The valuation is done by an actuary 

and is based on the “Projected Unit Credit Method”.

5.18 Trade and other payables

Trade payables relate primarily to open balances for received 

management, legal and consulting services. Balances with the 

management company Opus Capital are included in Note 6.3. All 

outstanding balances are generally due within 30 days.

5.19 Other non-financial liabilities

Other non-financial liabilities contain capital tax accruals 

amounting to USD 3 thousand (PY: USD 7 thousand).

5.20 Provisions for pensions and employee benefits

Defined contribution plans:
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension 

plans are recognized as employee benefit expense in the profit or 

loss when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognized as 

assets to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future pay-

ments is available. The expense recognized in the current period 

in relation to these contributions amounted to USD 3 thousand.
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Development of pension obligations

Major asset classes of plan assets:
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The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

Assumptions about future mortality are based on mortality table 

BVG 2020.

The weighted average maturity of the defined benefit obligation 

was 16 years as of reporting date. The Company expects to pay 

contributions amounting to USD 26 thousand during the next 

fiscal year.

Sensitivity analysis
A change of the above assumptions would result in the following 

increase (decrease) of the DBO:Versorgungsplänen führen:

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the change in one as-

sumption, with all other factors remaining constant. Changes in 

several assumptions can be correlated. To calculate the sensitivity 

of defined benefit obligations to actuarial assumptions the same 

method was used as to calculate the provisions for pensions in the 

consolidated statements of financial position.
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6. OTHER DISCLOSURES 

6.1 Disclosure on financial instruments

6.1.1 Fair values and categories  
of financial instruments

The Group’s financial assets comprise of investments in securities 

of a listed company, cash at bank, loans issued and receivables 

from cash-pooling. 

Investments in equity securities are classified as measured at fair 

value through profit or loss as they are held for trading. Their fair 

value is determined with reference to quoted market prices (Level 

1 of Fair value hierarchy). Changes in the fair value are included in 

finance income in the profit or loss statement.

Cash at bank is measured at amortized cost and its carrying 

amount on initial measurement is equal to its nominal amount 

which is considered to reflect fair value.

Loans to shareholders are measured at amortized cost. The loan 

is repayable within one year and the carrying amount on initial 

measurement is not materially different to its nominal amount.  

The loan is secured by the shares held and bears interest at 1,00%.

Financial liabilities contain trade and other payables and loans 

received. All financial liabilities are short-term. 

Loan from related parties, trade and other payables are measured 

at amortized cost, which is not materially different to the nomi-

nal amount at which they will be settled due to their short-term 

maturity.

As mentioned in note 3, in a private placement with institutional 

investors, SunMirror AG placed a compulsory convertible note on 

20 December 2021. As of 31 December 2021, 52.534 notes had been 

placed at a price of EUR 68,18 each, representing a cash inflow of 

EUR 3,6 million (USD 4,1 million) and which corresponds to the 

financial liability component of the compulsory convertible note, 

given that the amount can become due at any time (Note 3). 

The liability component of convertible bonds relates to two con-

vertible loan facilities in the total amount of EUR 8,4 million 

(equivalent to USD 10,2 million at the inception date) with two 

investors, which the Company entered into in April 2021. The 

convertible loans are unsecured credit facilities and are com-

pound financial instruments with a debt and an equity compo-

nent respectively. The facilities bear a fixed interest of 10% p.a. 

until either maturity or conversion. On 8 October 2021, a holder 

of the convertible bond maturing 30 May 2022 exercised its right 

to convert a bond value of EUR 6,0 million (USD 7,1 million) into 

95.100 new bearer shares of SunMirror AG. The holders of the 

second convertible bond have not exercised their right to convert 

the bonds, which resulted in a repayment of the debt component 

in the amount of USD 2,4 million.
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The table summarizes classification of financial instruments 

depending on their subsequent measurement.

Due to the short-term maturities, fair values of financial instru-

ments held at amortized cost approximate their carrying amounts. 

Investments in securities of a listed company are carried at fair 

value through profit or loss. Investments in securities are mea-

sured with reference to quoted market prices (Level 1 of the fair 

value hierarchy). 

6.1.2 Capital management

The objective of the capital management of SunMirror Group is 

primarily designed to finance the Group’s growth strategy and to 

maximise the shareholder value. Management monitors and ad-

justs the capital structure to ensure stable financing at the lowest 

possible cost.

Management considers the Group’s capital as consisting of both 

equity and debt, whereby debt has a convertible component which 

foresees the conversion of such instruments into equity. 

For further details on sources of financing available for funding 

ongoing operations in the future please refer to note 2.2.
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Credit risk from the loan with the shareholder is classified by ma-

nagement as medium, as it is not fully secured by the shareholder’s 

shares in SunMirror. In 2022, this resulted in coverage of between 

100% and 10%. 

Credit risk arising from cash-pooling receivables is immaterial, 

as the balance consists of cash held by related parties on behalf 

of the Group.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit at the reporting date 

are the carrying amounts of the financial assets as illustrated 

in the financial statements, as recognized in the statement of 

financial position.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty 

in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities that are 

settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group 

monitors its risk of a shortage of funds. SunMirror only holds 

short-term debt and ensures the availability of short-term liquid 

funds. See also considerations in note 2.2.

The contractual maturities of the financial liabilities as of 30 June 

2022 are limited to current liabilities, as all maturing within the 

next 12 months. The same maturity applied to the financial liabi-

lities recognized in previous years. The below table presents the 

Group’s liquidity position as of 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021. The 

amounts presented are undiscounted cash flows from financial 

instruments.

 

6.1.3 Financial instruments risk  
management objective and policies

The Group’s risks arising from financial instruments is limited 

due to the nature of the financial instruments held. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments 

will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. As part of its 

operations, the Group is exposed to fluctuations in mineral prices, 

and in particular to those related to Lithium and iron ore and in 

relation to the latter, the future timing of extraction activities. 

The Group is also exposed to price risk from its investments in 

securities. The Group manages this risk by actively managing 

its portfolio of investments in securities. Maximum exposure to 

risk is the carrying amount (at fair value) of the investment in 

securities.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obliga-

tions under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading 

to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to credit risk from its 

activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions 

and the loan given to shareholder. 

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is 

managed by the Group on an ongoing basis. Credit risk stemming 

from cash and deposits is very low. SunMirror maintains several 

relationships with reputable Banks, having an independently 

assessed credit rating of A2. 
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Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 

flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of 

changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to Group’s 

financing activities. The Group manages this foreign currency risk 

by monitoring movements in exchange rates. USD is the princi-

pal global currency in the mining sector and has therefore been 

chosen as the presentation currency of the Group’s financial state-

ments. AUD is the functional currency of the entity’s subsidiaries 

in Australia and Singapore, while EUR is the functional currency 

of SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. and also the primary currency 

in which the Group’s debt is denominated. CHF is the functional 

currency of the parent company, SunMirror AG, Switzerland.

The Group currency risk concentration relates primarily to the 

Group’s financing and operating activities. The largest share 

of financing is denominated in EUR (convertible bond) while 

operating activities (e.g., acquisition of exploration licenses) are 

conducted in AUD.



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 96

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the 

reporting period arises mainly from financial instruments deno-

minated in Euro:

Sensitivity

The Company is primarily exposed to changes in the EUR/CHF 

exchange rate. A change of 5% in EUR/CHF exchange rate (ceteris 

paribus) would lead to a net effect on profit and loss in the follo-

wing amount:

The aggregate net foreign currency gain (-loss) recognized in pro-

fit or loss amounts to USD 192 thousand (PY: USD 50 thousand).
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6.2 Share-based payments

As of 30 June 2022, there is an equity settled performance-ba-

sed compensation agreement with a member of the Executive 

Board. The agreement grants a direct participation to the Group 

through shares amounting to 0,75% of the total number of shares 

at the time an equity funding amounting to 4.000.000 shares is 

completed. As of 30 June 2022, the total number shares in issue is 

2.343.221. As the performance condition allowing exercise of the 

option is not considered likely to be met, and the participant has 

given notice of termination the option has no impact on the balan-

ce sheet and the statement of comprehensive income of the Group.

6.3 Related party transactions

Until August 2020 Perfect Summit Holdings Ltd., Seychelles, had 

control over SunMirror Group. Therefore, the prior year’s acquisi-

tion of Lithium 1 is a related party transactions.

Furthermore, the Group’s related party transactions include 

transactions with:

 SunMirror’s key management personnel (defined as the execu-

tive management of SunMirror AG). 

 Opus Capital Asset Management GmbH, the company is provi-

ding key management personnel services to the Group.

 Opus Capital Switzerland AG, the company providing key 

management personnel services to the Group. Opus Capital 

Switzerland AG is an independent corporate advisory firm 

focused on the strategic realignment of middle-market and 

emerging growth companies.

 Gilmore Capital Ltd (formerly Gravner Ltd.), a shareholder 

with significant influence over SunMirror supports the Group 

by searching for investment opportunities. These services are 

provided free of charge.

Concentration of market and sources of funding

Concentration of risks depends on exposure to counterpar-

ties, geographies, industries and currencies. The Group actively 

assesses and manages risk concentrations. 

Exposure to a concentration of market risk from investment in 

securities of a single issuer is deemed low as the Group can qui-

ckly change its exposure by selling the investment on the stock 

exchange. Exposure to geographical and industry risks is inherent 

to the business of the Group. The Group is currently primarily 

present in Australia. However, activities of the Group are planned 

to be expanded to other countries, thereby limiting exposure to 

geographical risks.

Exposure to counterparty risk and concentration of risk from 

sources of financing is assessed as high currently as the main 

source of financing are two convertible debt instruments from 

different investors. Currently the Group does not have any other 

lines of financing. 

Exposure to geography and industry risks is inherent to the 

business of the Group. The Group is currently primarily present 

in Australia. However, activities of the Group are planned to be 

expanded to other countries as well limiting exposure to geogra-

phy risks.

6.1.4 Capital management

The objective of the capital management of SunMirror Group is 

primarily designed to finance the Group’s growth strategy and to 

maximise the shareholder value. Management monitors and ad-

justs the capital structure to ensure stable financing at the lowest 

possible cost.

Management considers the Group’s capital as consisting of both 

equity and debt, whereby debt has a convertible component which 

foresees the conversion of such instruments into equity. For 

details on sources of financing available for funding ongoing and 

future operations,  please refer to note 2.2.



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 98

interest rate of 1% per annum or against delivery of an agreed Aus-

tralian Exploration License at SunMirror AG’s option. The loan is 

partially secured by shares of SunMirror AG.

Key management personnel compensation comprised the following:

The amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognized as 

an expense during the reporting periods related to key manage-

ment personnel. 

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the repor-

ting period in relation to transactions with related parties:

The loan granted to the shareholder has the following terms: 

Repayment in cash on demand in full including interest at an 
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On 12 July 2022, Latitude 66’s independent directors confirmed the withdrawal of their recommendation to Latitude 66 

shareholders that they should accept the offer of acquisition by SunMirror. Preceeding this confirmation, in May 

2022, management concluded that it was likely that the acquisition of Latitude 66 would not be executed, as the ag-

reed contractual conditions for the transaction to be completed, and especially those linked to SunMirror’s ability to 

raise additional capital of EUR 70 million, would not be met within the required timeframe. SunMirror AG therefore 

decided that the amounts recognized in respect of the acquisition should be fully impaired (see Note 4 and ad hoc 

announcement on 5 July 2022)

On 5 July 2022, the convertible bond in the amount of USD 2,8 million, was fully repaid in cash (see note 5.17).

Events after the end of reporting period
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Statutory Auditor’s Report 

To the General Meeting of 
SUNMIRROR AG, ZUG 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SunMirror AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial statement as at June 30, 2022, and the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and the 
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 4 to 47) give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at June 30, 2022, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and 
Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the 
requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Deloitte AG 
Pfingstweidstrasse 11 
8005 Zürich 
Switzerland 

Phone: +41 (0)58 279 6000 
Fax: +41 (0)58 279 6600 
www.deloitte.ch 
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       SUNMIRROR AG 
     Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended June 30, 2022 
   and Statutory Auditor’s Report 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern  
We draw attention to Note 2.2 to the financial statements describing the material uncertainty around 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, which is dependent on the availability of sufficient 
liquidity to finance the Groups on-going operations. As the Group, in its current stage as an exploration 
company, does not generate any operating cash inflows or revenues, a material uncertainty exists, that 
may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the 
Group may be unable to realise the assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.  
Based on the factors disclosed in Note 2.2, management has a reasonable expectation that 
the Group has adequate liquidity and resources to continue as a going concern for at least 
12 months. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.  

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described 
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described 
below to be the key audit matter to be communicated in our report. 
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       SUNMIRROR AG 
     Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended June 30, 2022 
   and Statutory Auditor’s Report 

Key audit matter title 
Valuation of non-current assets How the scope of our audit responded to the 

key audit matter and observation 

The carrying value of the Group’s non-current assets within 
the scope of IFRS 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral 
Resources includes intangible assets in form of royalty rights 
and exploration and evaluation assets, which amounted in 
total to $30 million at June 30, 2022 (June 30, 2021 $32 
million) (refer to note 5.10 & 5.11). The carrying value of the 
exploration assets amounts to 73 percent (in PY 95 percent) 
of the total assets of the Group as per June 30, 2022. 

• possibility of license expiry or relinquishment;
• exploration results that do not support the

likelihood of the discovery of commercially viable 
quantities of mineral resources; and

• long-term pricing assumptions for underlying 
commodities which reduce the likelihood of a
commercially viable discovery.

We assessed management’s assumptions made in relation to 
valuation of non-current assets to be a key audit matter. 

The scope of our audit responded as follows to the key audit 
matter: 

• we obtained understanding of and reviewed the
valuation methodology and impairment indicator
assessment applied by management for the 
financial year ended June 30, 2022.

• we assessed the design and implementation of
relevant controls related to management’s
impairment indicator assessment at the end of the
year.

• we engaged an internal mining valuation expert, to
assess the work performed by management’s
expert and challenge whether the value of the 
assets were appropriate.

• we performed the following procedures, to
independently challenge the Group’s assessment of
the existence of any impairment indicators:

- Reviewed underlying exploration licenses to
verify existence of ownership and validity as 
at year end

- Reviewed the most recent field visit reports
prepared by the competent person engaged 
by management (management’s expert)

- Enquired with management and directors as
to their intentions regarding the properties 
and plans for future exploration and 
development

- For the royalty rights, we reviewed a third-
party confirmation by the royalty party,
confirming the royalty rights as per initial
agreement as well as the holding of the
respective retention license.  We have also
assessed management’s estimation of the 
cash flow projection from the project.

Key observations: 

Based on the results of our audit procedures, we conclude 
that the valuation and presentation of the exploration assets 
complies with the accounting framework, and that 
management’s assessment of impairment indicators was 
appropriate.  

We identified the valuation of non-current assets as a key 
audit matter due to the significance of the amounts on the 
balance sheet and management judgement required to 
assess impairment indicators including factors, such as:



       SUNMIRROR AG 
     Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended June 30, 2022 
   and Statutory Auditor’s Report 

Key audit matter title 
Accuracy and valuation of financial liabilities  How the scope of our audit responded to the 

key audit matter and observation 

The financial liabilities amount to $7million at June 30, 2022 
(June 30, 2021 $10 million), The financial liabilities consist of 
$4million related to compulsory convertible notes placed in 
December 2021 and $3million related to convertible bonds 
placed in April 2021, both carried at amortized cost. 

The terms and conditions of the compulsory convertible 
notes lead to complex accounting considerations, to 
determine its appropriate valuation and presentation under 
IFRS 7 and IFRS 9.  Please refer to the Group’s disclosure in 
Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements for further 
information. 

The scope of our audit responded as follows to the key audit 
matter: 

• we obtained an understanding of the valuation 
methodology applied for initial recognition as well
as subsequent measurement including review of
agreements relating to the initial transactions.

• we assessed the design and implementation of
relevant controls related to management’s review
of the accounting treatment of complex financial
instruments at the end of the year.

• we assessed management’s accounting position 
for the initial transaction and subsequent
accounting with reference to the terms and 
conditions of the compulsory convertible notes.

• we engaged internal financial instruments experts 
to assess the applied accounting treatment as 
presented in the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year ended June 30, 2022.

Key observations: 

Based on the results of our audit procedures, we conclude 
that the valuation and presentation of the compulsory 
convertible notes comply with the accounting framework. 

Other Information in the Annual Report 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information 
comprises all information included in the annual report but does not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s reports thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual 
report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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     Consolidated Financial Statements 

for the year ended June 30, 2022 
   and Statutory Auditor’s Report 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal 
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate 
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is 
located at the website of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-
companies.This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
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Report on Other Legal and Statutory Requirements 
In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that 
an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

Deloitte AG 

Lay Boon Tan David Reichel 
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Zurich, October 28, 2022 
BTA/DRE/vpf 

Enclosures 

Consolidated Financial statements (balance sheet, statement of profit and loss and 
comprehensive income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of cash flows 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements) 
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We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the as-

sets, liabilities, financial position, and profit or loss of the Group as required by the applicable accounting standards 

and that the Group management report gives a true and fair view of

the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a description of the 

principal risks and uncertainties the Group faces.

Zug, 28 October 2022  

Dr. Heinz Kubli e.h. Laurent Quelin e.h. Daniel Monks e.h.
Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

Statement by all legal representatives
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Source: https://www.industry.gov.au/sites/default/files/minisite/static/8f915ab4-c06d-41cf-98ee-5bc628230bdc/resources-and-energy-quarterly-
september-2022/documents/Resources-and-Energy-Quarterly-September-2022.pdf

ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

Australia’s resource and energy export earnings are forecast to 

reach $450 billion in 2022–23, surpassing last year’s record of 

$422 billion. Earnings are then forecast to fall to $375 billion in 

2023–24 (still the third highest ever), as world supply responds to 

high prices amidst a soft demand backdrop. 

Driving the current surge in resource and energy export earnings 

is a spike in energy prices and Australian dollar weakness against 

the US dollar. Energy prices are elevated largely because of a 

looming drop in exports of gas, coal and oil by Russia, one of the 

world’s largest energy exporters. Gas, LNG and thermal coal prices 

are at record levels, as Northern Hemisphere nations try to build 

stockpiles ahead of winter. 

Since the end of June 2022, the price of thermal coal and other 

energy commodities prices have remained extremely high except 

for metallurgical coal prices which have declined sharply. Bans 

on Russian exports of oil and other fossil fuels by most advan-

ced Western countries are progressively taking effect. By early 

2023, the market for Russian exports will have shrunk noticeably: 

transport and infrastructure constraints will likely prevent a full 

diversion of some of these energy commodities from the West to 

nations such as China and India. The net result is a drop in world 

energy supply, as some Russian output becomes stranded. Drought 

in large parts of Western Europe, the United States and southern 

China has exacerbated energy shortages. High energy prices have 

caused the curtailment of energy-intensive metal smelting/refi-

ning, especially in Western Europe. These output cuts have partly 

offset the impact of weaker metal demand (induced by a sharp 

rise in energy costs on consumers and slower global GDP growth). 

Prices of energy commodities are expected to remain relatively 

high over the outlook period. High prices are likely to accelerate 

the push towards the adoption of low emission technologies.

Macroeconomic Environment
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Source: https://www.industry.gov.au/sites/default/files/minisite/static/8f915ab4-c06d-41cf-98ee-5bc628230bdc/resources-and-energy-quarterly-
september-2022/documents/Resources-and-Energy-Quarterly-September-2022.pdf

GDP Growth Forecasts

Source: IMF (2022)

Downside risks are substantial. These include: Russia cutting 

off gas exports to Europe; inflation proving harder to reduce 

than expected; tighter global financial conditions inducing debt 

distress in emerging market and developing economies; renewed 

COVID-19 outbreaks and lingering problems in the Chinese 

property sector.

Whether the global economy experiences a hard or soft landing 

remains in the balance. Labour markets are extremely tight in 

some advanced economies, especially the US and the UK, raising 

nominal wage growth. But real wages have mostly fallen, eroding 

household purchasing power and consumer sentiment. House-

holds in advanced economies are servicing historically high debt 

levels, in part by drawing down savings built up during the pan-

demic. How labour markets perform will be critical as business 

investment and household spending respond to tighter financial 

conditions over the coming quarters.

WORLD ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

The International Monetary Fund (IMF) projects the world econo-

my to grow by 3.2% in real terms in 2022 and 2.9% in 2023. This is 

around half the rate of growth achieved last year and represents 

a downward revision of 0.4 percentage points in 2022 and 0.7 

percentage points for 2023 from the April 2022 World Economic 

Outlook.

Global output stalled in the second quarter of this year, with GDP 

falling quarter-on-quarter (q/q) in China, the US and the UK, 

while Germany had zero growth. Downward revisions to forecast 

growth occurred across most economies, including substantial-

ly lower IMF growth forecasts for the US, China, the Euro Area, 

Japan and India. The Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) expects 

growth in Australia’s major trading partners to be well below its 

pre-pandemic average in the next two years.1

Policymakers in most economies currently face major challenges: 

they are having to manage high levels of inflation in an environ-

ment of sharply slowing (and even negative) growth. Inflation has 

surged, as supply problems add to a surge in energy prices due the 

fallout from the Russian invasion of Ukraine. The supply problems 

are both a remnant of the COVID-19 pandemic and a result of 

severe drought in Western Europe, southern China and the US. 
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Relevant Commodity Markets

Gold consumption is expected to  
fall in 2023 but recover in 2024

World gold consumption is forecast to decrease by 1.6% to 4,065 

tonnes in 2023, as investment demand eases from relatively strong 

levels in 2022. While safe-haven demand will tend to support gold 

investment — so long as geopolitical and economic uncertainty 

persists — real bond yields are unlikely to decline to the negative 

levels seen throughout 2021 and 2022. This will make investors 

more likely to seek alternative safe-haven assets, such as interest-

bearing bonds.

World gold consumption is forecast to increase by 7.7% in 2024 to 

4,376 tonnes, driven largely by continued growth in global jewel-

lery consumption. Jewellery consumption is expected to grow by 

12% year-on- year in 2024, as economic recovery and a forecast de-

cline in gold prices support purchases in key consuming countries 

such as China and India.

World supply increased in the first half of 2022

World gold supply increased by 4.9% year-on-year to 2,357 tonnes 

in the first half of 2022. The increased supply was driven by a 

3.1% rise in global mine production and an 8.0% increase in gold 

recycling. Stronger gold recycling activity in the quarter largely 

reflected the impact of higher US dollar gold prices, with increases 

achieved despite disruptions in China related to the country’s 

zero COVID policy.

GOLD

SUMMARY: Gold prices averaged US$1,872 an ounce in the 

June quarter 2022, before falling to an average of about 

US$1,730 an ounce in the September quarter 2022. Prices 

came under pressure from the strong US dollar and rising 

bond yields, following aggressive US monetary tightening and 

heightnened uncertainty over global economic growth. 

World gold consumption increased  
in the first half of 2022 

World gold demand increased by 12% year-on-year to 2,189 ton-

nes in the first half of 2022. This increase was driven by strong 

flows into US and European gold-backed exchange-traded funds 

(ETFs), which gained 234 tonnes, compared to an outflow of 127 

tonnes in 2021. 

Heightened geopolitical risk following Russia’s invasion of Ukrai-

ne, weaker equity markets and mounting inflation concerns, drove 

significant investment flows into safe-haven assets (such as gold 

ETFs) from January-April 2022. From May 2022, rising real bond 

yields and a strong US dollar eroded gold’s appeal to investors, 

leading to ETF outflows and lower gold prices over the remainder 

of the June quarter 2022. 
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Record Australian gold exploration  
expenditure in 2021–22

Australia’s gold exploration expenditure reached a record high 

of $1.6 billion in 2021–22, up 4.0% from the previous record in 

2020–21. Gold accounted for 41% of Australia’s total mineral 

exploration expenditure (at $3.9 billion) in 2021–22. Western Aus-

tralia remained the centre of gold exploration activity in Australia 

in 2021–22, accounting for 71% (or $1.1 billion) of total gold explo-

ration expenditure, followed by Victoria (10% or $166 million) and 

NSW (7.2% or $114 million).

Global mine production rose to a record high 1,764 tonnes during 

the first half of 2022, driven largely by increased production in 

China and Australia.

Gold mine production is expected to increase as new projects 

come online in Canada, Chile, Brazil and Argentina. Production in 

Australia is forecast to rise during 2023 and 2024, driven by new 

projects and expansions of existing projects. Continued environ-

mental regulations and industry consolidation in China will see 

production fall over the medium-term.

Gold prices to fall over the short and medium term

Gold prices have mostly resisted sharp increases in real bond  

yields so far this year, however this resistance is expected to un-

wind over time, as interest rates continue to rise and as global 

economic uncertainty continues to support the US dollar. Lower 

safe haven demand will do less to ameliorate the impact of higher 

interest rates on gold demand.

There are several risks to the gold price assessment in the remain-

der of of 2022. These include the arrival of any new COVID-19 

variants and the extent to which COVID-19 lockdowns and control 

measures persist in China.
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Long term electric vehicle sales projections

Globally, governments continue to be extremely supportive to 

encourage EV sales to the detriment of fossil fuel powers vehicles. 

Source: Wood Mackenzie (2022), Department of Industry,  
Science and Resources (2022); IEA (2022).

Key global automakers continue to accelerate plans to transition 

to EVs by developing new product lines and converting existing 

manufacturing capacity. The global market share for passenger 

EVs has quadrupled since 2019, with EV sales representing about 

9% of the car market in 2021. Strong underlying demand and EV 

manufacturers’ declarations of further increases in production, 

imply that EV sales could reach almost 40% of vehicle sales annu-

ally by 2030. 

World demand for lithium is estimated to increase from 583,000 

tonnes of lithium carbonate equivalent (LCE) in 2021 to 724,000 

tonnes in 2022. Over the following two years, demand is forecast to 

rise by over 40%, reaching 1,058,000 tonnes by 2024. Asia remains 

the major source of demand for lithium, despite the spread of new 

battery manufacturing capacity into Europe and the US. 

LITHIUM
 

SUMMARY Spodumene prices are forecast to rise from an ave-

rage US$598 a tonne in 2021 to US$2,730 a tonne in 2022, and 

US$3,280 a tonne in 2023 before moderating to US$2,490 in 

2024. We expect lithium hydroxide prices to lift from US$17,370 

a tonne in 2021 to US$38,575 a tonne in 2022 and US$51,510 in 

2023, and moderate to US$37,650 by 2024. 

Australia’s lithium production is forecast to grow from 

247,000 tonnes of lithium carbonate equivalent (LCE) in 

2020–21 to 387,000 tonnes in 2022–23 and 469,000 tonnes of 

LCE in 2023–24. 

Australia’s lithium export earnings are forecast to increase by 

more than ten-fold in just two years from $1.1 billion in 2020–21 

to $13.8 billion in 2022–23, and ease to $12.9 billion by 2023–24.

Global demand for lithium grows  
as electric vehicle sales take off 

Global lithium demand continued to grow strongly in the June 

quarter 2022, driven by rising demand for electric vehicle batte-

ries. Despite faltering global economic growth in the June quarter, 

sales and production of electric vehicles (EVs) continued their 

rapid growth trend. 

Global sales of all types of EVs increased 36% in the year to June 

2022 compared with the same period in 2021 — with Chinese sales 

up 110% (and still representing over 50% of global sales), Euro-

pean sales up 6%, and North American sales up 27%. 
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Global lithium production

Source: Department of Industry, Science and Resources (2022);  
Wood Mackenzie (2022).

World and Australian lithium hydroxide output
 

Source: Wood Mackenzie (2022); Department of Industry,  
Science and Resources (2022)

Supply chain issues that plagued EV manufacturers and battery 

makers late in 2021 and earlier this year have eased somewhat. But 

supply remains tight, with reports of delivery timeframes for key 

EV models being pushed well into 2023. Higher prices for lithium 

as well as other key battery materials (such as nickel, graphite and 

cobalt) are putting pressure on battery costs.

Global lithium production rising, 
but supply gap remains 

World output was 546,000 tonnes LCE in 2021, and is forecast to 

reach 682,000 tonnes in 2022 and 1,034,000 tonnes in 2024. This 

rapid growth — of over 80% in three years — is forecast to be met 

by gains in output by Australia, Chile (via expansions to Albemar-

le and SQM brine operations) and Argentina (via new and expan-

ded brine operations by Livent, Allkem and Minera Exar). 

Total supply from mine and brine operations is currently insuf-

ficient to meet demand. While new lithium projects are being 

developed, the supply gap will take time to close. Stockpile size is 

hard to ascertain, with some estimates of 4-8 weeks for spodume-

ne. Ongoing tight supply conditions are forcing lithium processors 

and battery makers to pay record prices.
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Record spodumene spot prices  
rolling into contract prices 

Shortages of spodumene, lithium hydroxide and lithium carbona-

te continue to push spot prices to new records. As most Australian 

producers (which represent almost half of the world’ production) 

have historically utilised long term contracts, prices received take 

time to adjust to shifts in spot prices. High average prices reported 

by Australian producers indicate spot prices are now flowing more 

rapidly into contract prices. 

Notes: Lithium hydroxide price is for higher-priced battery grade product. Source: 
Wood Mackenzie (2022); Department of Industry, Science and Resources (2022).

Rapid price movements and the relative immaturity of the market 

will likely lead to ongoing uncertainty. Risks to the lithium price 

forecasts are balanced over the outlook period. While expansions 

to production are already underway in Australia and overseas, 

there are long lead times for lithium mine and brine operations. 

Moreover, the potential for delays in bringing such large volumes 

of lithium into production, mean risks remain of persistent supply 

shortages over the next few years.

Global race for new lithium  
production speeds up 

A number of expansions and new projects have been announced 

in recent months. In addition to ongoing expansions to brine 

operations in Chile, state-owned mining firm Codelco is un-

dertaking exploration in the Salar de Maricunga, with drilling 

due for completion early next year, in Canada several projects 

are expected to start or restart production between 2023-2025, 

Mexico has created a state-run company to mine lithium after 

nationalising lithium resources in April, Europe and North Ame-

rica are looking to reduce their dependency on Chinese imports 

and develop their own lithium production with new regula-

tion, Zimbabwe’s Premier African Minerals is expected to start 

shipping spodumene concentrate from its Zulu lithium mine to 

China by March 2023, and Argentina’s Government revealed that 

Ultra Argentina SRL and China’s Zangge Mining have committed 

$290 million to explore, develop and process the nation’s lithium 

deposits. Interest in recycling continues to rise, with recycling 

projects announced in many nations. However, large scale opera-

tions will take time to establish. 
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Australia’s hydroxide refineries on  
verge of commercial production 

A key milestone occurred in May 2022 with first production of bat-

tery grade lithium hydroxide at the Kwinana lithium hydroxide 

refinery (51% Tianqi and 49% IGO) and this has allowed the start 

of the product qualification process with offtake partners, with 

an expected completion time of 4-8 months. By 2024, Australia 

may have about 10% of global lithium hydroxide refining capaci-

ty, rising to about 20% of global lithium refining by 2027. There 

are a number of risks to the strong forecast growth for Australian 

lithium production. Delays to approval and construction of new 

mine and processing plants, as well as difficulties achieving ramp 

up to full output, would see slower growth in spodumene output 

volumes and export values. 

China dominates the EV battery supply chain, producing three-

quarters of all lithium-ion batteries, and holds around 70% of  

cathode production capacity and 85% of anode production. Over 

half of lithium, cobalt and graphite processing and refining capa-

city is located in China. This situation is not expected to change 

rapidly. The IEA states that the majority of the supply chain is 

likely to remain Chinese through to 2030. In the case of battery 

production, China accounts for 70% of new global production 

capacity announced for the period to 2030 (IEA 2022). 

However, one of the drivers of recent high spot prices appears to 

be a push by refiners and battery makers to build up inventories, 

due to concerns about global supply chains. The lack of data on 

global lithium stocks makes it difficult to judge how well battery 

producers have built up stockpiles. If these concerns ease, prices 

could moderate more rapidly over the outlook period. Prices may 

also ease if global economic growth slows more rapidly than re-

cent IMF forecasts suggest it will.

More generally, the Lithium market has been volatile in the past 

10 years. Between 2017-2020, global demand lost momentum 

and prices and revenues plunged. This fall tested the resilience 

of businesses, with some facilities relegated to care and main-

tenance. But as global battery manufacturers and automakers 

reassessed their requirements over the course of 2021, demand for 

lithium took off again. This third stage holds even stronger growth 

prospects than the first, with Australia’s lithium export revenues 

forecast to grow from $1.1 billion in 2020–21 to $13.8 billion in 

2022–23 — a tenfold increase in just two years. 
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Iron ore prices dip in September quarter on weaker 
global steel demand 

Iron ore prices have fallen by around 20% in the September 

quarter 2022, averaging around US$100 a tonne. Combined with 

growing global recessionary fears, new COVID- 19 outbreaks and 

weakness in China’s housing sector, have dampened world steel 

and iron ore demand in recent months. 

Weakening demand in China, combined with a cost increase in 

many raw materials inputs has also driven steel mill margins 

down so far in 2022, with reports of as many as half of all mills 

operating at a loss in July (particularly EAF-based steelmaking). 

Following a multi-month decline in China’s portside stocks, 

iron ore inventories rebounded from July, reaching around 140 

million tonnes by mid-September. Despite the increase in portsi-

de stocks, inventories at steel mills remain low in year-on-year 

terms, which may provide some tailwind to iron ore demand over 

the rest of 2022. 

Weaker demand and more supply  
to continue to push prices lower to 2024 

Over the rest of the outlook period, iron ore prices are projected to 

decline toward (lower) longer-run levels. This follows more modest 

growth in blast- furnace steelmaking (compared with the past 

decade) from major producers such as the EU, US and China, as 

the world undergoes a transition to a low emissions environment. 

Slower growth in blast furnace steelmaking capacity will also 

take place alongside growing supply from Australia and Brazil. 

Growing global recessionary fears present further downside risks 

to iron ore prices over this period. 

IRON ORE

SUMMARY Iron ore prices have fallen by around 20% in the 

September quarter 2022. Combined with growing global 

recessionary fears, new COVID- 19 outbreaks and weakness in 

China’s housing sector, have dampened world steel and iron 

ore demand in recent months. 

Australian export volumes were 0.9% higher year-on-year in 

the first half of 2022, with new greenfield supply starting to 

come online from major producers. Exports are forecast to in-

crease by 3.1% in 2022–23 to reach 903 million tonnes, and rise 

by 3.8% to 937 million tonnes in 2023–24. 

Lower prices over the outlook are expected to see Australia’s 

iron ore export earnings ease from $134 billion in 2021–22 to 

$119 billion in 2022–23, and then to $95 billion in 2023–24.

Notes: China import Iron ore fines 62% Fe spot (CFR Tianjin port) 
Source: Bloomberg (2022) China import prices; World Steel Association (2022)
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With most of Ukraine’s iron ore mines located in areas outside 

major conflict zones, Ukrainian producers had been able to main-

tain a reasonably high level of exports through the early months 

of the invasion. This was despite Russia’s blockade of the country’s 

primary export hub at the port of Pivdennyi, with Ukrainian pro-

ducers redirecting cargos by rail and barge to ports in Poland and 

Romania for export. 

However, with rising energy costs and Russian strikes on this im-

provised logistics network in June, exports have declined in recent 

months, and are expected to remain weak for the rest of 2022. This 

has led to major iron ore producers such as Metinvest and Arcelor-

Mittal suspending a number of operations from July. 

China announces a significant  
new state-owned iron ore enterprise 

In July, China established a new state-backed entity, China Mine-

ral Resources Group, with responsibilities including the import 

and export of commodities, sales, iron ore mining, processing, and 

supply chain management services. The new company has regis-

tered capital of RMB 20 billion (around US$3bn). The move is seen 

as an effort by the Chinese government to guarantee the supply of 

important minerals resources and increase the negotiating power 

of China’s steel industry. This could include establishing a single, 

central purchasing platform for iron ore, though how this would 

function across China’s vast steel industry remains unclear. 

Iron ore price outlook (Quarterly)

Notes: China import iron ore fines 62% Fe spot (FOB) 
Source: Bloomberg (2022); Department of Industry. Science and Resources (2022)

World trade - Global iron ore supply  
improved in June quarter, but remains tight in 2022 

In the first half of 2022, combined shipments for Australia, Brazil, 

South Africa and Canada — representing more than 80% of global 

seaborne supply — were around 640 million tonnes, a fall of 1.3% 

compared with the same period in 2021. This was due to weaker 

export volumes for Brazil (down 7.5% year-on-year) and South 

Africa (down 4.6%) over the period. 

Russia/Ukraine prompting both  
a market restructure and regional shortfall 

The Russian invasion of Ukraine has continued to see a reorgani-

sation of iron ore and steel exports in recent months. Supply chain 

constraints are likely to lead to some shortfalls in regional supply 

of iron ore in 2022. 
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In conclusion, the global seaborne iron ore market is expected to 

remain relatively balanced over the outlook period, with growth in 

exports from both Australia and Brazil offsetting falls from mid-

tier exporters such as India. However, growing macroeconomic 

headwinds — such as weakening global growth, energy shortages 

and further COVID-19 outbreaks — present a mounting risk to 

steel demand growth over the outlook, which would have reper-

cussions for iron ore demand. 

Iron ore exploration expenditure  
highest in 9 years in June quarter 

A total of $201 million was spent on iron ore exploration in the 

June quarter 2022 (Figure 4.8). This was an increase of 44% 

compared with the previous quarter, and 33% higher than the 

same quarter in 2021. Exploration has remained elevated in recent 

quarters following iron ore prices reaching historical highs in the 

first half of 2021 and this is expected to continue going forward.

Source: https://www.industry.gov.au/publications/resources-and-energy-quarterly-september-2022



BUSINESS  
DEVELOPMENT



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | CONTENT 121

CONTENT 03  CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT

03 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
16 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
24 EARNINGS AND BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS
35 COMPANY STRUCTURE
40 RISK REPORT
46  ACCOUNTING, CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
47  DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH 243A (1) UGB
49 OUTLOOK AND IMPORTANT EVENTS

53 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS IFRS

107  MANAGEMENT REPORT

107 ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
120 BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
122 Business Activities
122 Objectives and Strategies
123 Research and Development
123 Operating Activities
123  Moolyella
125  Kingston-Keith
125  Cape Lambert
126 Acquisitions
126  Latitude 66 acquisition
127  Other acquisitions

128 EARNINGS AND BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS
139 COMPANY STRUCTURE
144 RISK REPORT
150 ACCOUNTING, CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
151 DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE WITH 243A (1) UGB 
153 OUTLOOK AND IMPORTANT EVENTS

157 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 122

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Objectives and StrategiesBusiness Activities

The Company’s focus is on (majority) acquisitions in mineral ex-

ploration companies in mainly developed countries with the most 

attractive mining jurisdictions, with a specific focus on battery 

metals, iron ore and gold deposits. 

In 2021/2022 the Group (see section 2.2.4 below) started its activi-

ties in the raw material sector and is in the early stage of explora-

tion activities. The current business activities of SunMirror Group 

consist merely of exploration (i.e., the search for and development 

of economically viable reserves of mineral resources) and holding 

rights for potential royalties in this sector. Subject to a successful 

exploration program SunMirror Group also plans to be active in 

the field of the development, mining, and extraction of mineral 

resources in the future.

SunMirror pursues an opportunistic acquisition strategy of new 

exploration and operating assets. All current projects are held 

100% by the Group. The Group’s acquisition strategy is to acquire 

primarily sole ownership or controlling interests (save for poten-

tial royalty opportunities). Any decision on the acquisition of ad-

ditional exploration and operating assets will only be made after 

successful due diligence, negotiations/commercial agreement and 

securing any required financing. 

SunMirror seeks to acquire mineral assets that have seen at least 

some work from the previous owners and operators. This partial 

de-risking strategy provides SunMirror with baseline informa-

tion to estimate the potential likelihood of encountering further 

encouraging results, as well as a starting point from which to 

direct the next phases of work; and consequently, reduce the 

risk of SunMirror not being able to deliver encouraging future 

project results.

The Company’s strategy is to invest into exploration and mi-

ning assets with a focus on metals critical for the fast-growing 

European green technology industry such as cobalt, copper, 

gold, lithium, nickel, and tin. The focus is  furthermore on assets 

located in stable, low risk jurisdictions, e.g., Australia, Europe and 

selected African countries. By focusing on mineral assets in these 

more developed countries, management of SunMirror tries to 

avoid typical expropriation and political risk associated with mi-

neral assets in undeveloped countries. In addition, this provides 

SunMirror with a proximal market for its mineral projects.

SunMirror’s acquisition strategy is to acquire majority stakes 

(apart from potential royalty opportunities).
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Operating Activities

The Group invests into exploration and mining assets with a focus 

on critical metals relevant for both the European and Asian EV 

industry. The Group continues to advance its exploration assets and 

with the aim to eventually operate multiple mines and processing 

plants. Currently, the Group holds 3 assets in Western Australia: 

 Moolyella: The Group holds an exploration license (E 45/5573) 

granted on 23 December 2020 for a term of five years for an 

area of approx. 92.773 square kilometers in Moolyella, located 

in Western Australia, which the Group believes has a robust 

potential for lithium-bearing pegmatites. The property is an 

early-stage exploration project with no JORC-compliant mi-

neral resources defined as yet. Nevertheless, the area is highly 

prospective for both lithium and tin, the latter of which was 

exploited in the 1890’s.

 As the company plans to carry out both trenching and drilling 

in the future, Terrestrial Ecosystems was commissioned to 

undertake a preliminary site assessment and to prepare a report 

that outlines the potential vertebrate fauna issues should our 

company intend to proceed with exploration and mining in one 

of more areas within the license area. (To comply with Western 

Australian mining laws).

 Site reconnaissance visit was undertaken by Dr Scott Thompson 

on 16 February 2022 to assess variations in habitat types, the 

presence of habitat that would support conservation significant 

species, access and habitat condition.

Since the business model of SunMirror does not require any re-

search and development activities, it can mainly operate adopting 

commonly used best practices in its core business areas, and as 

such there are no current research and development activities 

apart from its ongoing mineral exploration programs.

Research and Development
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In April 2022 Botanica Consulting Pty Ltd (Botanica) was commis-

sioned by Lithium 1 Pty. Ltd. (SunMirror’s wholly-owned subsidia-

ry) to undertake a reconnaissance and targeted flora / vegetation 

survey of the project area (referred to as the ’survey area’). Their 

assessment is intended to support Program of Works (trenching / 

drilling) approvals for the exploration program on the Project.

Following a desktop study and site visit (May 2022), their report 

concludes:

1. No environmentally sensitive areas were identified within the 

survey area.

2. There are no wetlands of international importance (Ramsar 

Wetlands) or national importance (Australian Nature Conser-

vation Agency Wetlands) within the survey area. 

3. There are no gazetted conservation reserves within the survey 

area.

4. No threatened, priority or otherwise significant flora species 

were identified within the survey area.

5. No threatened, priority or otherwise significant ecological 

communities were identified within the survey area.

Plan of Word (PoW) is being submitted to the authorities and 

quotes are being sought for drilling as well as for an aeromagnetic 

survey. The aeromagnetic survey will be especially useful in iden-

tifying structures that lie beneath supercial cover within the li-

cence area, and which will be prioritised and targeted by drilling.

Dr Thompson’s report concludes that 

 “Exploration drilling in the three main target areas within the 

licence is unlikely to significantly impact of terrestrial species 

unless the drilling area is near the activity area of a conser-

vation significant species, and in most cases the animals will 

move into an adjacent area with little impact.

 

 Arboreal bats are unlikely to be significantly impacted unless 

a roost site is disturbed, and roost sites are caves or adits. If ex-

ploration drilling is at least 50m from the entrance of a cave or 

adit and the drilling activity is limited to a couple of days, then 

impacts are unlikely to be significant.

 If exploration is to occur adjacent to the wetland areas, then 

the waterbirds will almost certainly move to less disturbed 

areas, so any impacts will be low.

 It is recommended that an inspection of each of the proposed 

access track and exploration drilling sites and is undertaken 

prior to drilling activity by a suitably experienced zoologist is 

undertaken to identify if any conservation significant species 

will be potentially impacted.”

He concludes 

 “When the intended mining and disturbance area(s) are 

demarcated, then a targeted survey should be planned and 

implemented for conservation significant species potentially 

found in the project areas.”
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 SunMirror is aware that MCC has recently submitted an ap-

plication for an extension (renewal) of their retention license 

to the Department of Mines, Industry Regulation and Safety 

(submission date: 16th March 2022) and has paid the required 

annual rental fee for the next twelve months (until 21 March 

2023) and which has been verified on the Australian Tene-

ments Online system.  Furthermore, the system shows that 

no expenditure is required by MCC on the project to hold the 

licence for the current year (ending March 2023).

 The maximum licence term for a retention licence is 10 years. 

A retention licence may be renewed.

The Group assets of the company, located at Moolyella and Kings-

ton Keith are at an exploration phase and do not produce any 

revenue for the time being. A pre-feasibility study was completed 

by MCC as per above, but has not yet been placed into production. 

The Group expects that production at MCC’s Cape Lambert mine 

will not start in the short term.

An exploration budget (ending December 2023) of approximately 

AUD$760k has been calculated for the company’s Australian 

projects and is predominantly made up of drilling and airborne 

geophysical costs for Moolyella and Kingston Keith. The airborne 

geophysics, in the form of aeromagnetics, will highlight structures 

beneath the ground for drilling. The exploration budget is subject 

to continuous review by the Board, and is dependent on positive 

results generated from exploration work.

Please refer to section 1.2 of the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements for further information.

 Kingston-Keith: The Group holds an exploration license  

(E 53/1953) granted on 9 March 2020 for a period of five years for 

an area of approx. 152 square kilometers in the Kingston-Keith/

Mt. Keith area, situated in a prolific gold and nickel production 

district in central Western Australia, which the Group believes 

has good potential for gold and nickel. The property is an ex-

ploration project with no JORC-compliant mineral resources 

defined as yet.

 Since the November 2021 field visit by Geonomik Pty Ltd, no 

further work has taken place on the ground. Quotes for both 

drilling and an aeromagnetic survey are being sought, with a 

view to drilling in 2023. As with the Moolyella licence above, the 

aeromagnetic survey will help to identify prospective structures 

that may host gold mineralisation for drilling.

 Cape Lambert: The Group holds a royalty on future mine 

production from the MCC Australia Sanjin Mining Pty Ltd 

(“MCC”)’s retention license (R 47/18) on their Cape Lambert 

magnetite project covering an area of approx. 83.68 square 

kilometers in the Cape Lambert region in Western Australia. 

This is a passive holding investment held by the Group. 

 The Group does not expect any royalties from the project in the 

short-term. This expectation is based on the following assump-

tions: Currently, MCC holds a so-called retention license for 

the Cape Lambert project. A retention license is a license at 

an intermediate licensing stage between exploration license 

and mining lease, which allows the holder to retain but not to 

develop a mining project, e.g., because of pending commer-

cial feasibility or the development of required transportation 

infrastructure. 
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Between February 2022 and June 2022, due to the ongoing delays 

in completing the Capital Raise, SunMirror Luxembourg agreed 

with Lat66 several extensions to the closing date of the takeover 

offer and filed with the Australian Securities and Investments 

Commission the relevant supplementary bidder’s statements. 

In April 2022, an agreement was reached with Latitude 66 Cobalt 

Limited to extend the closing date of the takeover offer for a 

consideration of a EUR 4 million loan (non-repayable should the 

takeover not be completed) for its scheduled exploration and mine 

development programme. This arrangement was made on the 

basis of reiterated promises by the Investor, with some supporting 

evidences, that they would be able to fulfil their obligations in 

relation to the Capital Raise. Prior to that, various non-repayable 

loans totalling EUR 3.05 million had already been extended bet-

ween August 2021 and February 2022 to support Latitude 66 Co-

balt Limited’s operation. Proceeds from these loans were retained 

within the Lat66 Group to run the business. On 14 June 2022 the 

closing date of the takeover offer was extended one final time to 12 

July 2022, but the acquisition could not be completed.

Please refer to section 8 of the Management Report “Outlook and 

Important events that have occurred since the end of the last busi-

ness year” for further information on the Lat66 acquisition.

LATITUDE 66 ACQUISITION

On 27 August 2021 SunMirror AG through its wholly owned sub-

sidiary SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. entered into a conditional 

binding agreement with Latitude 66 Cobalt Limited to acquire 100 

percent of the shares of Finnish cobalt company Latitude 66 Co-

balt Oy (“Lat66 OY”) from its parent company Latitude 66 Cobalt 

Limited (“Parent” or “Lat66”). Further to the announcement made 

by the Company on 26 August 2021, the Company announced 

that on 19 December 2021 its wholly owned subsidiary SunMirror 

Luxembourg S.A. entered into a bid implementation agreement 

with Latitude 66 Cobalt Limited in connection with the proposed 

offer to acquire the issued share capital of Lat66, the parent com-

pany of Finnish cobalt company at a price of AUD 0.467 per Lat66 

share. Lat66 OY’s business focus is exploration and mine develop-

ment with its business operations located in Finland. Founded 

4 years ago, Lat66 Oy is one of the leading explorers of cobalt in 

Europe and controls the largest exploration tenement package of 

any single company in Finland. Lat66 OY’s most advanced mine 

development project is the fourth largest known cobalt deposit in 

the European Union and the second largest not yet in production. 

In addition, Lat66 OY has an extensive exploration portfolio with 

over 100 targets identified for further exploration. The purchase 

price per Lat 66 share and per performance right is AUD 0.467 

payable to the Lat 66 shareholders and holders of performance 

rights in cash on closing, for a total amount of AUD 69,116,00, and 

a 2% net smelter royalty on future production. The Offer was sup-

posed to close on 4 February 2022, if not extended (“Offer Period”).

On 30 November 2021 a single investor (the “Investor”) subscribed 

for 1,000,000 new bearer shares at an issue price of EUR 70 per 

share (the “Capital Raise”), of which to date only 248,121 shares 

have been paid and issued. 

Acquisitions
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OTHER ACQUISITIONS

The Group continues to be on the lookout of acquisition opportu-

nities to complement its portfolio of assets in Australia and poten-

tially other developed countries and/or select African countries. 

Some discussions are taking place with companies looking to 

combine or sell assets.



ERGEBNIS  
UND BILANZ- 

ANALYSE
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EARNINGS AND BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS

The statutory financial statements of SunMirror AG for the 

twelve months ended 30 June 2022 have been prepared on the 

assumption that the company will continue as a going concern in 

accordance with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations 

(CO), commercial accounting and financial reporting (Art. 957 

ff. CO).

SunMirror AG did not generate any revenues or receive any divi-

dends from its subsidiaries in the reporting period 2021/22 or in 

the prior-year period 2020/21.

Revenues
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Personnel expenses increased by 385,5% (CHF 0,6 million) in 

the reporting year and amount to CHF 0,8 million in 2021/22 

(2020/21: CHF 0,2 million). The increase in personnel expenses 

compared to the prior period arises primarily from the increase in 

the number of full-time equivalents (FTE) from an average of 1,4 

FTE in the financial year 2020/21 to an average of 3.3 FTE in the 

financial year 2021/22.

Personnel expenses
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In fiscal year 2021/22, further consulting fees and valuation re-

ports, legal and tax consulting fees, communication and PR costs 

were incurred, which are attributable to the following projects:

 Strategic discussions with shareholder groups.

 Introduction of an internal control system and compliance 

monitoring in accordance with the requirements of the law 

and the Vienna Stock Exchange.

 Preparation of a securities prospectus for the planned capital 

increase to finance the acquisition of Latitude 66.

 Various legal and tax fees and audit fees for due diligence costs 

in connection with the planned acquisition of Latitude 66.

Other operating expenses increased by 15,4% (CHF 0,4 million) 

in the reporting year and amount to CHF 3,3 million for 2021/22 

(2020/21: CHF 2,9 million).

In fiscal year 2020/21, the main driver was the cost of preparatory 

work for a stock market listing. In fiscal year 2021/22, further costs 

were incurred for the initial listing on the Vienna Stock Exchange, 

which was successfully completed with the admission on  

26 November  2021. The first day of trading was on 30 November 

2021. The costs related to the work on the prospectus are mainly 

included in the categories consulting fees and valuation reports, 

stock exchange fees, legal fees, accounting, tax and auditing fees, 

Professional fees and communication/PR costs.

Other operating expenses
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Impairment of financial assets relate exclusively to the failed 

acquisition of Latitude 66 in the fiscal year 2021/22 in the amount 

of CHF 3,1 million (2020/21: CHF 0 million). 

On 12 July 2022, Latitude 66’s independent directors confirmed 

the withdrawal of their recommendation to Latitude 66 sharehol-

ders that they should accept the offer of acquisition by SunMirror. 

Preceeding this confirmation, in May 2022, management conclu-

ded that it was unlikely that the acquisition of Latitude 66 would 

be executed, as the agreed contractual conditions for the trans-

action to be completed, and especially those linked to SunMirror’s 

ability to raise additional capital of EUR 70 million, would not 

be met within the required timeframe. SunMirror AG therefore 

decided that the amounts recognized in respect of the acquisition 

should be fully impaired.

The amortization of intangible assets is a straight-line amortiza-

tion on the purchased domains.

Depreciation, amortization and  
impairment of non-current assets
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Financial income

Financial income decreased by -22,9% (CHF -0,2 million) in the 

reporting year and amount to CHF 0,8 million (2020/21 CHF 1,0 

million). The financial income results primarily from net realized 

foreign exchange gains from the currency translation of convertible 

EUR bonds.

Financial expenses

Financial expenses increased by 472,2% (CHF 4,3 million) in the 

reporting year and amount to CHF 5,2 million (2020/21: CHF 0,9 

million). Financial expense is a result of the loss on investments 

in securities of Cadiz Inc., a listed U.S. company, interest expenses 

relating to convertible bonds, foreign currency exchange losses on 

assets denominated in EUR and other financial expenses relating 

to costs for raising capital.

Financial result
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As SunMirror AG (Group) has prepared its consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, it does 

not prepare a cash flow statement in accordance with the law.

In the reporting year 2021/22, SunMirror AG recognized two out 

of period income in the total amount of CHF 0,4 million (2020/21: 

CHF 0 million). On the one hand, it was a partial waiver of a sup-

plier and on the other hand, the interest accrued on the converted 

convertible loan in the previous year lapsed.

Direct taxes

SunMirror AG did not generate any taxable profits in the repor-

ting period or in the prior-year period. The accumulated losses 

carried forward of CHF 3,1 million as of 30 June 2021 increased 

further to CHF 14,4 million as of 30 June 2022. SunMirror AG 

only paid capital taxes in the reporting period as well as in the 

previous year.

Cashflow Statement
Extraordinary, non-recurring  
or out-of-period income
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ASSETS

Total assets increased by 109.2% (CHF 10,5 million) to CHF 20,1 

million as at end of June 2022 (June 2021: CHF 9,6 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents increased compared to the previous 

year, in particular as a result of the cash capital increase in March 

2022. The decrease in marketable securities reflects the almost 

complete sale of Cadiz shares.

Other short-term receivables and con-current financial assets 

reflect intercompany receivables from subsidiaries. The parti-

cipation shows the carrying amount of the direct investment in 

SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. The intangible assets include the 

residual carrying amount of the purchased domains.

Cashflow Statement Financial position and capital structure



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | EARNINGS AND BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS 137

LIABILITIES 

Total liabilities decreased by 19,6% (CHF 2,1 million) to CHF 8,6 

million at the end of June 2022 (June 2021: CHF 10,7 million). 

One convertible bond in the amount of CHF 6,1 million was 

converted into equity. By the end of June 2022 a second one in 

the amount of CHF 3,0 million was due. However, it was not ac-

tually repaid until the value date of 5 July 2022, due to technical 

problems with the paying agent. In order to secure operational 

liquidity, compulsory convertible notes with a term of one year 

until December 2022 were issued in December 2021. These 

transactions decreased the financial liability in the reporting 

year in the net amount of CHF 2,4 million. 
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group carried out two 

capital increases. In the first capital increase in March 2022 

amounting to CHF 17,8 million, 248.121 shares were issued at a 

price of EUR 70 per share. In the second capital increase in May 

2022 amounting to CHF 6,1 million, 95.100 shares were issues at 

a price of CHF 70 per share. The second capital increase resulted 

from the conversion of issued convertible bonds.

EQUITY 

Shareholders’ equity increased by CHF 12,6 million to CHF 11,5 

million at the end of June 2022 (June 2021: CHF -1,1 Mio.). At the 

end of June 2022, the Group had an equity to capitalization ratio 

of 57,3% (June 2021: -11,2%).



COMPANY 
STRUCTURE 
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Registered Office, Financial Year,  
duration of the Company, Corporate Purpose 

COMPANY STRUCTURE

According to Article 2 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the 

statutory purpose of the Company is to promote the long-term value 

of the subsidiaries, affiliated companies or participation through 

uniform administration and centralized services and to provide the 

associated financing. In addition, the Company may buy, sell, bro-

ker, manage and exploit real estate, securities, participations and 

intellectual property rights, establish subsidiaries and branches 

in Switzerland and abroad and carry out all commercial activities 

related to the purpose of the Company.

SunMirror AG is a stock corporation (Aktiengesellschaft) in-

corporated and operating under Swiss law. Its registered office 

is in Zug, Switzerland and it is registered with the commercial 

register office of the canton of Zug under CHE 395.708.464. The 

Company’s address is Steinhauserstrasse 74, 6300 Zug, Switzer-

land, telephone number +41 43 505 14 00. The Company’s website 

is www.sunmirror.com. 

The Company’s legal name is “SunMirror AG”. The Company and 

its subsidiaries operate on the market under the commercial name 

“SunMirror”. The Company is established for an unlimited period 

of time. The Company’s legal entity identifier (LEI) is 894500R3E-

ZWT4CYDM933. The financial year of the Company runs from 1 

July of a calendar year until 30 June of the next calendar year. 
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The Creation and Historical Development of the Company

Couno Resources S.A. (today, SunMirror Luxembourg) acquired 

all shares of Lithium 1 by means of a share purchase agreement 

dated 14 February 2020. Lithium 1 is an Australian company 

which holds an exploration license for the tenements Moolyella 

(Lithium) and Kingston-Keith (Gold and Nickel), both located in 

Western Australia. 

Couno Resources S.A. (today, SunMirror Luxembourg) acquired 

all shares of Pharlap by means of a share purchase agreement 

dated 12 August 2020, amended on 18 December 2020. Pharlap is 

a Singapore company whose main asset is composed of a royalty 

agreement relating to future royalties payable in relation to the 

Cape Lambert magnetite project.

On 30 November 2020, the Shares were included for trading on 

the Vienna MTF (market segment direct market) of Vienna Stock 

Exchange (Wiener Börse).

On 26 November 2021, the Listed Shares were admitted to trading 

on the Official Market (Amtlicher Handel) of the Vienna Stock 

Exchange (Wiener Börse), a regulated market pursuant to Directi-

ve 2014/65/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 

15 May 2014 on markets in financial instruments and amending 

Directive 2002/92/EC and Directive 2011/61/EU, as amended 

(Markets in Financial Instruments Directive II – “MiFID II”). 

The Company was first incorporated under the name Dynastar 

AG on 24 September 2014 with its registered office in Erlenbach 

ZH, Switzerland, and was registered with the commercial register 

office of the Canton of Zurich under CHE-395.708.464.

In 2018, the Company’s shares were admitted to listing on the 

regulated unofficial market segment (Freiverkehr) of Düsseldorf 

Stock Exchange (Börse Düsseldorf).

On 31 August 2020 the Company’s general meeting resolved to 

acquire all shares of Couno Resources S.A. (today, SunMirror 

Luxembourg S.A. – “SunMirror Luxembourg”) by means of a con-

tribution in kind, to change the Company’s name to SunMirror AG 

 and to move its registered office from the Canton of Zurich to the 

Canton of Zug. The acquisition of Couno Resources S.A. (today, 

SunMirror Luxembourg) completed on 7 September 2020. 

Thereby, also the subsidiaries of Couno Resources S.A. (today, 

SunMirror Luxembourg), Lithium 1, and Pharlap, became part of 

the Group, resulting in the following structure: 

SunMirror AG 

100%

100% 100%

SunMirror 
Luxembourg S.A.

Pharlap Holdings 
Pte Ltd

Lithium 1 Pty Ltd



Significant Subsidiaries

SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | COMPANY STRUCTURE 143

The significant subsidiaries of the Company are (i) SunMirror 

Luxembourg, incorporated in Luxembourg, (ii) Lithium 1, incorpo-

rated in Australia, and (iii) Pharlap, incorporated in Singapore. 

The Company holds, directly or indirectly, 100% of all shares and 

all votes in each such company.



RISK REPORT 
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Business related 
risk factors

RISK REPORT

successful exploration such assets will require further investment 

but will not generate revenues in the short-term. For the short-

term, the Group will be dependent solely on equity and equity-

linked funding, such as by means of convertible notes, to finance 

its administration and exploration and development activities. 

Any funding need may increase in case of delays with exploration 

efforts or higher than expected costs. If the Group fails to obtain 

additional funding at all or at reasonable terms, if required, the 

Group may be forced to sell assets, potentially also in distress, 

or even to file for insolvency, which would result in assets being 

impaired and potentially additional liabilities being incurred. 

In addition, the Group owns via its Pharlap Holdings subsidiary a 

royalty (the “Royalty Asset”) on the Cape Lambert Iron Ore Project 

owned by MCC. The Royalty Asset is linked to a retention license 

and associated revenues rely on the commencement date of the 

mining operations, which is currently not yet set. Such date is 

dependent on many factors that are not in control of the Group, 

including but not limited to commodity prices, MCC business 

strategy and credit quality, regulation in Western Australia, glo-

bal macroeconomic dynamics, etc.

Further, any acquisition by the Group of additional exploration 

assets or companies holding exploration assets will require the 

Group to obtain sufficient additional funding from its sharehol-

ders by means of share capital increases.

The Company is a start-up company with no operating history 

and has not generated cash inflows as yet and will continue to be 

dependent on equity or debt funding at acceptable conditions 

in order to finance its business activities. The establishment of 

completely new business activities may fail, especially against the 

background of SunMirror’s focus on mineral exploration com-

panies, however the company aims to mitigate this risk by hiring 

relevant experienced industry personnel and conducting explora-

tion with the objective of establishing mineral resources.

There is significant risk in the identification and proving up re-

sources. While as of today no drilling has been done, there is no 

guarantee that future drilling programs will be successful. This 

means that there is a substantial risk that drilling may outline a 

lower tonnage or grade resource, which would negatively impact 

our valuation and possibly lead to future impairment of assets and 

impact the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. 

No asset of the Group is expected to generate revenues in the 

short term. 

The Group’s existing exploration assets, the Moolyella project 

and the Kingston-Keith project, are expected to take at least until 

2027 and 2028 before they can be turned into producing mines, 

provided exploration efforts show the envisaged results of proving 

up a viable resource, obtaining a mining license and funding to 

construct an operating mine. Until such stage, even in case of 
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Regulatory 
Risk factors

Commodity market 
related Risk factors

The parent company SunMirror AG issues bearer shares instead 

of registered shares, which is still feasible for publicly listed com-

panies in Switzerland. However, with the global tendency towards 

issuing registered shares, bearer shares may restrict the Group’s 

access to capital in the future. 

If MCC failed to get its retention license approved by Western 

Australia’s department of mines this could have an impact on the 

prospect of SunMirror’s royalty held at its Pharlap subsidiary to 

produce any revenues in the future.

New environmental regulations might create additional requi-

rements on mining developments and fossil fuel usage that may 

have an impact on the future Company’s results of operations and 

financial conditions. Regulations on fossil fuel usage would also 

likely create opportunities given the Company’s focus on battery 

metals resources.

In Western Australia, registered Native Title claimants and 

determined Native Title holders have certain rights under the 

provisions of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (NTA) future act 

regime, when governments intend to conduct business such as the 

granting of mineral tenure that are future acts under the NTA.

The State Government has a policy whereby applicants for explo-

ration licences and prospecting licences will have to sign and offer 

a Regional Standard Heritage Agreement (RSHA) or prove they 

have an existing Alternative Heritage Agreement in place. This 

must happen before the applications will be submitted to the NTA 

Expedited Procedure (Kimberley Region excluded).

The RSHAs provide Aboriginal heritage protection and offer all 

parties with standard fees and procedures for heritage clearances 

that are at an acceptable standard to industry.

Parts of the Moolyella and Kingston Keith exploration licences are 

covered by heritage claims and the company is in close dialogue 

with the aboriginal groups concerned to finalise the respective 

licence RHSAs.

The company does not envisage any problems in concluding the 

RHSAs on both licences in the near future.

The market reacts sensitively to various factors, which is why a 

market forecast is only possible to a limited extent. Price and in-

terest rate developments, inflation, political and social changes 

can be identified as driving factors.

The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity 

prices. Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse 

impact on net income or loss and economic value due to commo-

dity price movements and volatilities. The Company closely mo-

nitors long term commodity prices, particularly as they relate to 

iron ore, base and precious metals, to determine the appropriate 

course of action to be taken by the Company. SunMirror actively 

monitors its risk of a shortage of funds as SunMirror will need 

extensive funds to finance its future exploration and evaluation 

activities as well as potential acquisitions. When expenses are 

denominated in currencies other than the respective functional 

currencies SunMirror is subject to foreign currency risks. Sun-

Mirror manages this foreign currency risk by matching receipts 

and payments in the same currency and monitoring movements 

in exchange rates. 

In addition, SunMirror might be facing competition from other 

companies, some of which have considerably higher funds at 

their disposal for acquisitions or joint ventures. Furthermore, 

more competitors could lead to more mineral reserves being 

produced and to lower market prices for certain minerals. This 

could result in SunMirror Group’s outlook being less attractive 

to potential capital providers. A lack of access to capital could 

restrict SunMirror’s ability to finance development of its busi-

ness. It could also impact the prospects of SunMirror’s royalty 

asset held at Pharlap.
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Legal risksImpact of Covid-19

The SunMirror Group is exposed to legal risks through its busi-

ness and financing activities. The SunMirror Group enters into 

contracts with suppliers, contractors, and other counterparties 

that may give rise to disputes and claims. The Group may also 

have claims against counterparties that it may decide to pursue 

and that may give rise to significant legal costs before a successful 

outcome, if any, were to occur. The Group has in-house expertise 

to handle such risks with the assistance of a number of outside 

legal advisors in the various jurisdictions where it operates or has 

business relationships. The Group also carefully monitors its own 

compliance with legal agreements to minimise the risk of legal 

disputes in the future.

Although slowly waning due to the improving health situation, 

central bank and government actions and support measures taken 

in response to the Covid-19 outbreak may create restrictions in 

relation to capital, human resources and mobility. These may limit 

management’s flexibility in managing the business. The Group 

monitors these developments to assess how it could impact its 

business, particularly in relation to asset capex programmes and 

access to capital.
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Impact of inflation, the increase in interest rates, 
and potential risk of global recession

The significant increase in inflation globally could put pressure 

on the Group’s costs. Fortunately, the Group has limited exposure 

to inflation as most of its costs are contracted under medium to 

long term contracts. The Group has limited exposure to materials 

and energy costs in its exploration activities.

Further, central banks globally are fighting inflation with steep 

increases in interest rates. This could result in scarcer and/

or more expensive access to capital which could in turn result 

in acquisitions and capex activities being more challenging to 

complete. 

Finally, the increase in interest rate is likely going to dampen 

global economic growth in the medium term. This could result 

in reduced demand for the commodities that the Group looks to 

produce. However, production will occur in a longer timeframe. 

Separately recession could impact MCC’s plans to develop the 

Cape Lambert Iron Ore Project, which would postpone the date by 

which the Royalty Asset could produce revenues.
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The overall consolidation process includes checking the consis-

tency of the data transmitted and plausibilisation of the financial 

statements as a whole. The consolidation is prepared by using a 

certified professional consolidation software.

To ensure correct and timely completion of the annual report 

by the publication date, deadlines are set for both the half-ye-

ar (interim) and the financial statements. The entire accounting 

function is notified of these in good time. In addition to the annual 

report at the end of each financial year, a halfyear interim report 

is published in accordance with IAS 34.

CONTROLS

The accounting function reports to the CFO. Regular reports to 

the Board of Directors contain information on the asset capex 

programmes, expense outlook, potential legal challenges, and 

opportunities and risks. This ensures ongoing oversight of the 

internal control system. Existing and potential risks are cons-

tantly monitored. This is based on uniform risk guidelines. The 

management is responsible for implementing these guidelines and 

ensuring they are observed. 

In the SunMirror Group, the annual audit schedule is determi-

ned by the Board of Directors on the basis of a proposal by the 

Corporate Accounting department. Focal areas are examining the 

effectiveness of the internal control system, compliance with the 

applicable Reporting Standards and other compliance require-

ments. The results of audits are presented on a case-by-case basis 

as they arise to the Board of Directors.

Corporate Accounting comprises those activities that are neces-

sary to prepare financial statements and consolidated financial 

statements in compliance with the law and IFRS.

STRUCTURE OF ACCOUNTING

The accounting function in the SunMirror Group comprises the 

accounting departments at local companies and the Corporate 

Accounting department in Zurich. The local companies draw up 

financial statements in accordance with local law based on local 

accounting software. The financial statements are submitted quar-

terly to Corporate Accounting in Zurich for final clarification and 

review. The reconciliation of local financial statements to uniform 

IFRS accounting and valuation principles are performed by the 

Corporate Accounting departement in corporation with the consoli-

dation service provider. 

CONSOLIDATION

The IFRS financial statements are drawn up in accordance with 

IFRS accounting and valuation principals as issued by the Inter-

national Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Local financial 

reporting data are checked manually by Corporate Accounting 

(mainly plausibility checks, intercompany reconciliation and 

reconciliation of financial statements according to local GAAP 

into IFRS-compliant accounting and valuation). During this pro-

cess, Corporate Accounting works closely with the consolidation 

service provider. Consolidation work is done twice a year (annual 

group financial statements at June 30 and interim condensed 

group financial statements at December 31). 

ACCOUNTING, CONTROL AND  
RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
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CONDITIONAL CAPITAL AND 
CONVERTIBLE NOTES
The Company issued a first convertible note in June 2020, with an 

expiry date on 30 May 2022. The ISIN Code was CH1104954396. Of 

the 133.305 subscription rights, 95,100 were exercised and led to 

the capital increase of 3 May 2022. These 95,100 new shares issued 

form part of the 343.221 bearer shares which have been admitted 

for trading on 21 October 2022.

With the May 2022 capital increase the conditional capital of the 

company decreased to CHF 904.900,00.

According to Article 3b of the Articles of Association: “The share 

capital shall be increased, excluding shareholders’’ subscription 

rights, by a maximum of 904.900 bearer shares by issuing a maxi-

mum of 904.900 bearer shares with a nominal value of CHF 1,00 

each, to be fully paid up, through the exercise of conversion and 

option rights granted to creditors of new bonds or similar debt 

instruments issued by the Company under one or more participa-

tion plans to be established by the Board of Directors. The Board 

of Directors shall determine the details of the terms of issuance.”

Of the remaining 904.900 bearer shares of the conditional capital, 

52.534 shares are allocated to the Compulsory Convertible Notes 

with ISIN CH1142529093 expiring on 20 December 2022. The con-

version of these 52.534 notes is compulsory at the Maturity of the 

Note and will lead to a further capital increase, reducing the con-

ditional capital by the same amount. Upon issuance, the Company 

shall request these shares to be admitted for trading at the Vienna 

Stock Exchange as well.

1. The share capital of SunMirror AG was CHF 2,343,221.00 as at 

30 June 2022 and was divided into 2,343,221 bearer shares with a 

par value of CHF 1.00 per share each, which are fully-paid in. All 

shares are equal in terms of their dividend and voting rights.

As of the 30 June 2022, the 343,221 bearer shares created in 

1H2022 with the capital increases dated 3rd March 2022, and 3rd 

May 2022, have been admitted for trading by the Vienna Stock 

Exchange on 21st October 2022.

AUTHORISED CAPITAL

The Board of Directors is authorized, at any time until 29 of De-

cember 2022 to increase the share capital by a maximum amount 

CHF 751.879,00 by issuing a maximum of 751.879 bearer shares 

with a nominal value of CHF 1.00 each, to be fully paid up.

The Board of Directors is authorised to exclude the subscription 

right of existing shareholders for important reasons and to all-

ocate it to third parties. Important reasons are in particular the 

participation of employees, mergers, the financing of the company, 

financing and refinancing of takeovers, contributions in kind as 

well as placement of the shares on national or international stock 

exchanges. The Board of Directors may also exclude the subscrip-

tion right if the new shares to be created are issued in connection 

with i) a public placement or ii) a private placement to broaden 

the base of qualified shareholders within the meaning of the 

Federal Act on Collective Investment Schemes. Shares for which 

subscription rights are granted but not exercised must be used by 

the Board of Directors in the interest of the Company. The Board 

is authorised to determine the issue price of the shares, the type 

of contribution, the allocation to new shareholders and the date of 

dividend entitlement.

DISCLOSURES IN ACCORDANCE  
WITH 243A (1) UGB
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2. As at 30 June 2022, SunMirror AG had a direct stake of 100.0% 

in SunMirror Luxembourg S.A. and was thus the indirect sole 

shareholder of Pharlap Holdings PTE Ltd. As announced in the 

Company’s ad hoc news dated 1 August 2022, the Company tempo-

rarily lost control over Lithium 1 Pty. Ltd. The control was regai-

ned on 2 August 2022, and re-established the 100% ownership of 

Lithium 1 Pty Ltd by SunMirror Luxembourg S.A.

3. According to Article 16 of the Articles of Association: “The 

Board of Directors is composed of one or several members, who 

are elected by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a term of 

one year and who may be re-elected. The term of office ends on the 

day when the ordinary Meeting of Sahreholders is held. In case 

of by-elections, the new memebrs of the Board of Directors shall 

complete their predecessors’ term of office.”

4. There are no financing agreements nor customer contracts 

containing any customary agreements on a change of control in 

the event of a takeover within the meaning of Section 243a (1) No. 

8 UGB. 

5. There are no compensation agreements within the meaning of 

Section 243a (1) No. 9 UGB.
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The bid of SunMirror Luxembourg published on 22 December 

2021 to acquire all shares in Latitude 66 Cobalt Limited pursu-

ed by SunMirror Luxembourg ended unsuccessfully on 12 July 

2022, as the minimum acceptance condition (90% acceptance, 

by number, of all Lat66 shares) was not fulfilled at the end of the 

offer period. Until the very end of the Offer Period, SunMirror 

attempted to meet the agreed requirement to raise EUR 70 million 

of additional capital within the agreed and repeatedly extended 

timeframe. Unfortunately, this did not succeed because only part 

of the EUR 70 million subscribed as part of the capital increase 

was paid by the investor. 

The Group continues to have discussions with Latitude 66 Cobalt 

Limited on potential ways to complete a combination transaction. 

Other acquisition or merger opportunities to reach a critical mass 

are being investigated.

OUTLOOK AND IMPORTANT EVENTS 

Important Events since the end of the last business year
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In the meantime, SunMirror is now fully focused on reducing overheads and expenses wherever possible and in-

vesting available funds primarily in the development of value-added resource projects. Thus, SunMirror wants to 

rapidly develop the Moolyella lithium project, where first rock samples were analysed earlier this year. The Moolyella 

licence is very promising for the occurrence of lithium-bearing pegmatites. This was confirmed by the assays. By fo-

cusing on this boron programme, management hopes to create significant value for the company, particularly given 

neighbouring tenements, such as those owned by Global Lithium Resources, have seen their resources base steadily 

expanding in the last 5 years. The first drilling is planned early next year after an aeromag survey will have identified 

more precise targets. As a further step to advance the resource projects, SunMirror allocated a budget for the Kings-

ton Keith project to start the necessary preliminary work. A first drilling programme is to be carried out there next 

year after an aeromag survey as well. In addition, SunMirror plans to significantly reduce costs and resources by res-

tructuring the group. The companies currently affiliated under SunMirror Luxembourg S.A., Lithium 1 and Pharlap, 

are to be brought under the Swiss group entity. This will save costs for the board and directors of the Luxembourg 

intermediate holding company as well as for the additional annual financial statement there. 

As previously mentioned, in addition to these strategic measures, additional assets can be acquired and be brought 

into the company to increase the portfolio diversification and the value of the company. Some divestitures of non-

core assets are also being considered.

With the favourable momentum underpinning demand for electric vehicles, we believe that the portfolio of assets 

currently held at SunMirror is ideally positioned to benefit from a significant global flow of capital and supportive 

regulation to develop battery metal resources. This is particularly the case given these assets are located in countries 

where environmental and social regulations are aligned with the global push for ESG investing.

Zug, 28 October 2022  

Dr. Heinz Kubli e.h. Laurent Quelin e.h. Daniel Monks e.h.
Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

Outlook for the coming business year
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS
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GENERAL INFORMATION

COMPANY NAME, REGISTERED OFFICE AND LEGAL FORM 

Company name and registered office: 

SunMirror AG, Zug, Switzerland 

UID:  CHE-395.708.464 

Legal form: Aktiengesellschaft (AG)

SIGNIFICANT  
ACCOUNTING POLICES
Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the provisions of the Swiss Code (Obligations (CO), commer-

cial accounting and financial reporting (Art. 957 ff. CO). Disclosu-

res on the principles and accounting options applied, unless they 

are required by law.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis at 

cost and are presented in Swiss francs (CHF).

Valuation at market values

As an exception to the basis of preparation, marketable securities 

held on a short-term basis are valued at the quoted market price 

and foreign currency rate provided by the relevant bank. Unreali-

zed gains and losses related to marketable securities are recorded 

in the statement of profit and loss for the period.

Presentation of the statement of profit and loss

The statement of profit and loss is presented in accordance with the 

nature of expense method.

Foregoing a cash flow statement  
and additional disclosures in the notes

As SunMirror AG (Group) has prepared its consolidated financial 

statements in accordance with IFRS as issued by the IASB, it has 

decided to forego presenting additional information on interest-

bearing liabilities and audit fees in the notes as well as a cash flow 

statement in accordance with the law.

Currency and roundings

Foreign currency items in current assets and current non-inter-

est-bearing liabilities are measured at the closing rate. Corre-

sponding gains and losses are recognized in the income statement 

for the period. Noncurrent assets, interest-bearing liabilities and 

non-current liabilities are valued at the historical exchange rate, 

except where this would result in overvaluations of assets or un-

dervaluations of liabilities. Foreign currency transactions in the 

income statement are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on 

the date of the transaction.

Individual figures in the annual financial statements are roun-

ded. In tables, such commercially rounded figures may not add up 

exactly to the respective totals also shown in the tables.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DISCLOSURES ON THE ITEMS 
OF THE BALANCE SHEET AND 
INCOME STATEMENT

Securities at market price contain short-term investments in 

shares of a publicly listed company.
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Due to the fact that SunMirror has only issued bearer shares, 

the Board of Directors can only disclose the share ownership 

known to it. Consequently, the actual ownership structure 

may differ substantially.

The Executive Board and the Board of Directors did not hold 

any bearer shares in the company in fiscal years 2020/21 

and 2021/22.
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See note 19 for further information for previous year comparison.
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Direct taxes are related to capital taxes. As the Company 

shows a loss for the reporting period and the previous period, 

there are no expenses related to income taxes.

In previous year, capital tax was shown under other operating 

expenses (Administration and IT).

2021/ 22: CHF 280’360: Agreement to pay a lower amount 

than the liability that was recognized in prior year

CHF 142’506: When the convertible bond was converted into 

equity, the interest accrued in the previous year lapsed.
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21  Going concern

The Directors continues to have a reasonable expectation that the 

Company has adequate resources to continue as a going concern 

for at least the next 12 months, and that going concern accounting 

remains appropriate. 

The appropriateness of the Company’s ability to continue as going 

concern, is dependent on the availability of sufficient liquidity 

to finance the Company’s on-going operations. As the Group, in 

its current stage as an exploration company, does not generate 

any operating cash inflows or revenues, a material uncertainty 

exists, that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the company may be 

unable to realise the assets and discharge its liabilities in the 

normal course of business During the year ended 30 June 2022, 

the Company incurred a net loss for the period of CHF 11,3 million 

(June 2021: CHF 3,0 million).

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Company carried out 

two capital increases. In the first capital increase in March 2022 

amounting to CHF 17,8 million, 248.121 shares were issued at a price 

of EUR 70 per share. In the second capital increase in May 2022 

amounting to CHF 6,1 million, 95.100 shares were issues at a price 

of CHF 70 per share. The second capital increase resulted from the 

conversion of issued convertible bonds (see note 12).

As at 30 June 2022, the Company had net assets (-net liabilities) of 

CHF 11,5 million (June 2021: CHF -1,1 million) including cash of 

CHF 10,1 million (June 2021: CHF 0,4 million) and readily marketa-

ble securities of a publicly listed company of CHF 0,1 million (June 

2021: CHF 4,0 million). Net current assets (-liabilities) as at 30 June 

2022 amount to CHF 10,3 million (June 2021: CHF -5,0 million).

The financial year 2022/23 is focused on developing the existing 

asset Moolyella and Kingston Keith with moderate base case capital 

expenditures of CHF 0,3 million (Lithium 1). The budget prepared 

for the fiscal year 2022/23 and the subsequent six months at group 

level reflects this scenario. Should acquisitions be made, these 

would have to be financed with corresponding capital increases.

In the base case scenario, which foresees a conversion of the 

currently issued compulsory convertible notes, management has 

a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate liquidity re-

sources to continue as a going concern.

We have sensitised the following assumptions underlying the 

Company’s budget through December 2023 and do not believe 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern would be 

materially impacted given the scale of the Group’s operations 

and commitment:

 Inflation risk

 Settlements of certain liabilities

 Legal costs escalation due to potential claims.

OTHER DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY LAW



SunMirror AG | Annual Report 2021/22 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 169

22  Events after the balance sheet date

On 12 July 2022, Latitude 66’s independent directors confirmed 

the withdrawal of their recommendation to Latitude 66 sharehol-

ders that they should accept the offer of acquisition by SunMirror. 

Preceeding this confirmation, in May 2022, management conclu-

ded that it was likely that the acquisition of Latitude 66 would not 

be executed, as the agreed contractual conditions for the trans-

action to be completed, and especially those linked to SunMirror’s 

ability to raise additional capital of EUR 70 million, would not 

be met within the required timeframe. SunMirror AG therefore 

decided that the amounts recognized in respect of the acquisition 

should be fully impaired (see note 5 and note 15).   

   

On 5 July 2022 , the convertible bond in the amount of CHF 3,0 

million, was fully repaid in cash (see note 9).    

  

The war in Ukraine has permanently changed the global economic 

order and high inflation threatens to become a long-term problem. 

As the Group did not yet start its operating activities and is neither 

active in the Russian nor in the Ukrainian market the Group is not 

expecting material impact on its financial statements. However, 

due to the volatile geopolitical situation,  Management is closely 

monitoring the impacts of the Russia-Ukraine war on its business. 

     

However, if other unexpected events (including unexpected cash 

out flows in relation to future litigation proceedings not currently 

commenced) were to occur, some of the mitigating measures wit-

hin the Directors control, to reduce costs, optimize cash flow and 

preserve liquidity include, but are not limited, to:

 reduce non-essential capital expenditure and cancelling 

discretionary spending and

 dispose of some of the Group’s non-essential assets. 

Further, the Company has planned certain exploration activities 

in the next fiscal year. If these activities do not yield a positive 

result, it is possible that the Company would decide to sell assets 

or discontinue certain operations that could result in due course 

in the Company not continuing as a going concern.

Based on these factors, management has a reasonable expectation 

that the Group and the Company itself  have adequate liquidity 

and resources to continue as a going concern.
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Report of the Statutory Auditor 

To the General Meeting of 
SUNMIRROR AG, ZUG 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of Sun Mirror AG, which 
comprise the balance sheet as at June 30, 2022, and the income statement and notes for the year then 
ended. 

Board of Directors’ Responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board 
of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2022, comply with Swiss law and the 
company’s articles of incorporation. 

Deloitte AG 
Pfingstweidstrasse 11 
8005 Zurich 
Schweiz 

Phone: +41 (0)58 279 6000 
Fax: +41 (0)58 279 6600 
www.deloitte.ch 
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SunMirror AG 
Statutory Auditor’s Report 

for the year ended 
June 30, 2022 

Emphasis of Matter 
We draw attention to Note 21 to the financial statements describing the material uncertainty around the 
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, which is dependent on the availability of sufficient liquidity 
to finance the entity’s on-going operations. As the entity, in its current stage as an exploration company, 
does not generate any operating cash inflows or revenues, a material uncertainty exists, that may cast 
significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the entity may 
be unable to realise the assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Based on 
the factors disclosed in Note 21, management has a reasonable expectation that the entity has 
adequate liquidity and resources to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months. Our opinion is 
not qualified in respect of this matter.  

Report on Other Legal Requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act 
(AOA) and independence (article 728 Code of Obligations (CO)) and that there are no circumstances 
incompatible with our independence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that 
an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements 
according to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

Deloitte AG 

Lay Boon Tan David Reichel 
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert 
Auditor in Charge 

Zurich, October 28, 2022 
BTA/DRE/vpf 

Enclosures 
- Financial statements (balance sheet, income statement and notes)
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We confirm to the best of our knowledge that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 

financial position and profit or loss of the parent company as required by the applicable accounting standards and 

that the Management Report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the business and the 

position of the company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties the company faces. 

Zug, 28 October 2022  

Dr. Heinz Kubli e.h. Laurent Quelin e.h. Daniel Monks e.h.
Chairman of the Board Board member Board member

Statement by all legal representatives 



Note/Disclaimer 

In this publication, “SunMirror” refers to the group, while “SunMirror AG” refers to 

the parent company (single entity). 

Minor arithmetic differences may occur as a result of commercial rounding of indivi-

dual figures and percentages in this publication. 

The forecasts, target figures and forward-looking statements contained in this publi-

cation are based on the knowledge and estimates available at the time of preparation. 

Like all forward-looking statements, they are subject to risks and uncertainties that 

could lead to considerable deviations in the result. No guarantee can be given for the 

actual occurrence of forecasts and target figures as well as forward-looking statements. 

The information in this publication is for general information purposes only. No guaran-

tee can be given for the completeness of the contents. Errors and misprints excepted. 

All personal terms used in this publication are to be understood as gender neutral. 

The liability and warranty of Frequentis for the publication is excluded. Information 

from this publication may not be used without the express permission of SunMirror. 

This publication has been prepared in a German and English version. In case of 

doubt, the English version shall prevail. All rights reserved. 

SunMirror AG

Headquarters

Steinhauserstrasse 74

6300 Zug, Switzerland

investor@sunmirror.com 
www.sunmirror.com

© SunMirror 2022
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